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CHAPTER XXXIV
HODGSON’S SECOND PIPER REPORT, 1892.5 (Concluded)

IV. Hodgson’s Conclusions

CARRYING to an extreme the principle that half a loaf is
better than no bread, I will now give a few slices and some
crumbs from Hodgson’s masterly presentation of the consid-
erations which led him, from a fuller knowledge than has yet
been possessed by all other men put together, to put a spirit-
istic interpretation on Mrs. Piper’s phenomena. I give these
extracts, however, with considerable reluctance, because they
cannot fall far short of being a positive injustice to the cause
he had so much at heart, and to his presentation of it. To
get the full force of his arguments sometimes requires pretty
hard reading. Occasionally, to facilitate quotation, I trans-
pose a word or two, or bracket in a phrase unencumbered
with my initials, but never so as to affect the sense.

(Pr.XII1,323f.): “ This recognition of friends appears to me
to be of great importance evidentially, not only because it in-
dicates some supernormal knowledge, but because, when all the
circumstances are taken into consideration, they seem to point,
in G. P.’s case, to an independent intelligence drawing upon its
own recollections. ... At the outset of the communications from
G. P., he was particularly anxious—I describe it as it seemed
primd facie to be—to see the Howards and his father and
mother for the purpose of clearing up some private matfers....
On April 29th came the explanation from G. P. about the diffi-
culties involved in the act of communicating, and I believe that
1 emphasized the importance of his always recognizing any
friend of his who happened to attend a sitting, no matter what
other communications he might wish to make. From that time
onwards he has never failed to announce himself to, and to
recognize, with the appropriate emotional and intellectual rela-
tions, the sitters who were known to G. P. living, and to give
their names in one form or another, with one exception. This
exception, however, seems to me to be as noteworthy as if the
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recognition had been complete. ... At Miss Warner’s second sit-
ting ... January Tth, 1897... G. P. asked who she was. I said
her mother was a special friend of Mrs. Howard.

“¢T do not think I ever knew you very well. (Very little. You
used to come and see my mother.) I heard of you, I suppose.
(I saw you several times. You used to come with Mr. Rogers.)
Yes, I remembered about Mr. Rogers when I saw you before.
(Yes, you spoke of him.) Yes, but I cannot seem to place you.
I long to place all of my friends, and could do so before I had
been gone so long. You see I am farther away....I do not
recall your face. You must have changed.... (R. H.: Do you
remember Mrs. Warner?) [Excitement in hand.] Of course,
oh, very well. For pity sake are you her little daughter? (Yes.)
By Jove, how you have grown....I though so much of your
mother, a charming woman. (She always enjoyed seeing you, I
know.) Our tastes were similar (about writing?) Yes....Ask
her if she remembers the book I gave her to read. (I will.)
And ask her if she still remembers me and the long talks we
used to have at the home evenings. (I know she does.) I wish
I could have known you better, it would have been so nice to
have recalled the past. (I was a little girl).

“[R. H.] The very non-recognition seems to me to afford an
argument 1n favor of the independent existence of G. P., as con-
trasted with the conception of some secondary personality depend-
ing for its knowledge upon the minds of living persons.......

“There are thirty cases of true recognition [mine may make
thirty-one. H.H.] out of at least one hundred and fifty persons
who have had sittings with Mrs. Piper since the first appearance
of G. P., and no case of false recognition. ... The continual man-
ifestation of this personality,—so different from Phinuit or other
communicators,—with its own reservoir of memories, with its
swift appreciation of any reference to friends of G. P., with its
‘give and take’ in little incidental conversations with myself,
has helped largely in producing a conviction of the actual pres-
ence of the G. P. personality, which it would be quite impossible
to impart by any mere enumeration of verifiable statements. It
will hardly, however, be regarded as surprising that the most
impressive manifestations are at the same time the most subtle
and the least communicable.”

At the first sitting of his most intimate friends, the How-
ards, on April 11, 1892, some six weeks after his death (Pr.
X111, 329%.),

“using the voice directly, he showed such a fullness of private
remembrance and specific knowledge and characteristic intel-
lectual and emotional quality pertaining to G. P. that, though
they had previously taken no interest in any branch of psychical
research, they were unable to resist the conviction that they were
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actually conversing with their old friend G. P. And this convie-
tion was strengthened by their later experiences....At one of
his early communications G. P. expressly undertook the task of
rendering all the assistance in his power towards establishing
the continued existence of himself and other communicators, in
pursuance of a promise of which he himself [i.e., his control?
H.H.] reminded me, made some two years or more before his
death, that if he died before me and found himself ¢still exist-
ing,” he would devote himself to prove the fact, and in the per-
sistence of his endeavor to overcome the difficulties in communi-
cating as far as possible, in his constant readiness to act as
amanuensis at the sittings, in the effect which he has produced
by his counsels, to myself as investigator, and to numerous other
sitters and communicators, he has, in so far as I can form a
judgment in a problem so complex and still presenting so much
obscurity, displayed all the keenness and pertinacity which were
eminently characteristic of G. P. living.

“ Finally, the manifestations of this G. P. communicating
have not been of a fitful and spasmodic nature, they have ex-
hibited the marks of a continuous living and persistent person-
ality, manifesting itself through a course of years, and showing
the same characteristics of an independent intelligence whether
friends of G. P. were present at the sittings or not...[From
early in 1892] up to the last series of sittings which I had with
Mrs. Piper (1896-7), in a sitting which Evelyn Howard bad in
November, 1896, and in a sitting which Mrs. Howard (just then
returned to America after between three and four years’ absence
in Europe) had since my departure from Boston in September,
1897, the same persistent personality has manifested itself, and
what change has been discernible is a change not of any process
of disintegration, but rather of integration and evolution.......

“ But there were also failures [see Pr.XIII,331f.] which do
not, however, seem to me to afford an argument against the
‘identity > of G. P. I refer to prophecies and to descriptions of
events occurring in our world after his death, and to attempts to
find objects that were lost. ... Nor, so far as I knaw, is there any
indication in these groups of incidents that the wrong state-
ments made depended telepathically upon the expectations of
living persons.

“ There is another type of incident yet [relating to the doings
of absent people. H.H.] where G. P. made at least two notable
failures and two notable successes. ... These incidents point to
a failure of supernormal power to see what is going on in our
world as we see it, and suggest rather some form of perception of
scenes in the subliminal consciousness, perhaps of telepathic na-
ture....On the whole this group of incidents appears to me to
strengthen the evidence pointing to G. P.’s ‘identity.’ ”

The failures were with average friends; the successes were
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with his closest friends and his family. Hodgson very prop-
erly says (Pr. XIII, 335) :

“That G. P. could get into some closer relation with his
father and the Howards than with Miss M. or myself is intelligi-
ble; but it is not so obvious why Mrs. Piper’s secondary person-
ality should.......

“G. P. seemed to be able to distinguish much better than
Phinuit which communicators were friends of a sitter, and which
were, for the time being, outsiders, and he would, as it appeared,
sometimes tell such outsiders to go away and not interrupt, and
at other times make it clear that they were not connected with
the sitter, and would give their messages in an ‘aside,’ as it
were, to me.”

(Pr.XII1,341f.) : “I know of several instances where other
communicators have had the opportunity of frequent communi-
cation through Mrs. Piper’s trance during a course of several
years, and at many of these sittings I have been present. They
have strengthened my conviction that primarily depended upon
the communications from G. P., but the sitters regard them as
too personal for publication. The best things can obviously never
or very seldom be reproduced; if they could be, they would prove
themselves, by that very fact, to fall short of being the most
convincing. And hence all one can offer is a few dry bones in-
stead of a living and breathing personality, to use the words of
il;e laiiiy who prepared the following account. I shall call her

rs. M.......

“¢Tt is very difficult for me to explain—as Mr. Hodgson has
requested me to—just what general effect the “sittings ” have
made on my mind. If I had never had a “sitting ” with Mrs.
Piper, and this report had been written by someone else, I am
sure I should say: “ There’s not enough evidence here to prove
that the living personality of the man called Roland ever reached
his wife through Mrs. Piper’s ‘mediumship’; there is little
beside coincidence, suggestions unconsciously made by the sitter
to Mrs. Piper during the highly susceptible condition of her
trance state, incidents that can be fully explained by thought-
transference from living persons,” etec., ete. I am quite sure 1
should never be convinced by any such report as this of the
reality of “ spirit return.” Yet I am convinced of it, but it is
because there is much in my “sittings” which might help to
convince a stranger, which is of too personal a nature to quote,
and perhaps the most convincing thing is the accumulation of
little touches of personality which make the “sittings ” so real
to me, but which it would be almost impossible to reproduce in
print. Peculiarities of expression in the writing and of manner
in that wonderfully dramatic hand of Mrs. Piper’s. Anyone who
has had a good sitting with Mrs. Piper will know exactly what
I mean. One feels the hand is alive with a distinet personality
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very different from “ Phinuit” (who has “ controlled ” the voice
in all my sittings). The behavior of the hand when it is con-
trolled by my husband or my brother is as distinct and as charac-
teristic of the two men as anything of the kind could possibly be.

“‘There is a great difference in the quality of the sittings; at
some of them no irrelevant matter would be written, and at
others much which sounded, as I have before said, like the odd
scraps of conversation one might hear over a telephone wire. I
have generally found that the poor sittings were on days when
eithe’r”Mrs. Piper or I was not up to our normal physical condi-
tion.

Was all the dramatic arrangement of the following a put-up
job? If it was, who was the great dramatist that did it? If
it was not, what was it? Hodgson writes:

(Pr.XI11,353f.) : “ The friend whom I have called Mr. Hart,
to whom in the first instance G. P. manifested [in 1892. H.H.]
...died in Naples on May 2nd, 1895....I heard incidentally on
May 3rd [of] the death of Hart. My assistant Miss Edmunds
went out to Mrs. Piper at my request to arrange a sitting for me
for the next day. ... I did not tell Miss Edmunds the reason, and
she made a totally erroneous conjecture concerning it. The an-
nouncement of the death however, with the place, and cause of
death (inflammation of the heart), appeared in a Boston evening
paper on May 3rd. ~ At the sitting on May 4th, after a few words
from Phinuit, G. P. wrote and gave several messages from
friends, and then asked what he could do for me. I replied that
I had something for him to do, but could not tell him what it
was. He made a brief reference to his father and mother, and
then to a friend of my own, and then came the following :—

“¢‘Hold, H. See all of these people bringing a gentleman.
[R. H. thinks this i3 unintentionally written, and doesn’t repeat
the words aloud.]

“¢Read...do you see them, H.? (No.) He is coming here.
I think I knew him. [R. H. can’t decipher after think.] That
I knew him. Come here and listen, H. He has been here before
and I have seen him since I passed out. (Who is it?) John.
“Do you see me, H.?” He says this. (No.) “ What about my
health, Oh George, I am here, do not go away from me,”...not
to you, H., to me. (Yes, I understand.) “I thought I should
see you once more before I came here.” (What is the full
name?) John H. (Give me the second name in full.) Did you
speak? (Write the second name in full.) Hart. (That’s right,
Hart, old fellow.) “ Will you listen to me, Hodg. ... [Much ex-
citement in hand, and letters jumbled over. G. P. writing
throughout, but at times apparently much perturbation intro-
duced.] George knew I was here and met me but I was too weak
to come here and talk H.”...Yes, H., but the dear old fellow is
short breathed. ... T expected to see you before I came here, H.



518 Hodgson’s Second Piper Report [Bk. 1I, Pt. IV

(Yes, I hoped to have met you in the body again) but you see I
was failing. How are you?” What [apparently from G. P. to
Hart.] “I brought Ge—— here first....I am a little dull, H,,
in my head.” (Isn’t the light good to-day?) Yes, but it is I,
H., my (you mean you are not in good trim, George?) Nono I
Hart no, H. I Hart (I see, Hart is dull, Hart can’t do so well.)
[H. is the initial of Hart’s real name. 1898. This date, often
repeated, is of additional annotations made shortly before pub-
lication. H.H.] [Thump with fist. Much thumping with fist
during sitting indicative of assent at different times.] ... Will
they send my body on to New York? (I don’t know.) I hope
they will. They are now talking about it.” [I learned later that
the desirability of taking the body to America was discussed.]’

“ When I asked, ¢ Why didn’t George tell me to begin with?’
he replied, ¢ because I told him to let me come and tell myself.”
This was like Hart, and so was the statement quoted above that
it was he who brought G. P. first.”

It will be remembered that G. P. first appeared to Hart as
sitter. It is worth noting that as G. P. had in the “other
world ” no intimate friend in the habit of communicating, it
took a month to put in an appearance here through Phinuit,
but Hart, on arriving there, at once communicated through his
intimate friend, the practised communicator G. P., to his other
intimate friend Hodgson, and apparently was enabled or as-
sisted by G. P., to communicate himself. This fits in with
the general drift of suggestion. In time we may know what
weight to attach to it. It certainly raises the sort of pre-
sumption that invites a faith that the “evidential ” difficulties
will sometime be explained. Hodgson resumes:

(Pr.XIIL,357f.): “In my previous report on Mrs. Piper’s
trance (Proceedings, Vol. VIII) in discussing the claims of
Phinuit to be a ‘spirit’ and to be in communication with the
¢ deceased’ friends of sitters, I urged that there were almost
insuperable objections to the supposition that such ‘deceased’
persons were in direct communication with Phinuit, af least in
anything like the fullness of their personality....I am now
fully convinced that there has been such actual communiecation
through Mrs. Piper’s trance, but that the communication has
been subject to certain unavoidable limitations, the general na-
ture of which I shall shortly indicate. ... With the advent of the
G. P. intelligence, the development of the automatic writing, and
the use of the hand by scores of other alleged communicators,
the problem has assumed a very different aspect. The dramatie
form has become an integral part of the phenomenon. With the
hand writing and the voice speaking at the same time on differ-
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ent subjects and with different persons, with the hand writing on.
behalf of different communicators at the same sitting, with dif-
ferent successive communicators using the hand at the same sit-
ting, as well as at different sittings, it is difficult to resist the
impression that there are here actually concerned various differ-
ent and distinet and individually coherent streams of conscious-
ness. To the person unfamiliar with a series of these later sit-
tings, it may seem a plausible hypothesis that perhaps one sec-
ondary personality might do the whole work, might use the voice
and write contemporaneously with the hand. [“If you believe
that, you’ll believe anything.” H.I.] ... I do not, however, think
it at all likely that he would continue to think it plausible after
witnessing and studying the numerous coherent groups of mem-
ories connected with different persons, the characteristic emo-
tional tendencies distinguishing such different persons, the ex-
cessive complication of the acting required, and the absence of
any apparent bond of union for the associated thoughts and
feelings indicative of each individuality, save some persistent
basis of that individuality itself.”

(Pr.X1IL,360) : “I do not find any evidence tending to show
that the bond of continuity in the case of the most successful
communicators depends for its existence upon the minds of liv-
ing persons. ... The mixtures of truth and error bear no discern-
tble relation to the consciousness of the sitters, but suggest the
action of another intelligence groping confusedly among its own
remembrances. And as further light appears in this confused
groping, the bonds of association appear more and more to be
traceable to no other assignable personality than that of the de-
ceased. It is not this or that isolated piece of private knowledge
merely, not merely this or that supernormal perception of an
event occurring elsewhere, not merely this or that subtle emo-
tional appreciation for a distant living friend,—but the union
of all these in a coherent personal plan with responsive intellect
and character [Italics mine. H.H.] that suggests the specific
identity once known to us in a body incarnate.”

(Pr.XIIL,361f.) : “‘Why,” they [objectors] will say, ¢if dis-
carnate persons are really communicating, do they not give us
much more evidence?...Take the communications as a whole,
and we find them coming very far short indeed of what we
should expect from the real friends who once lived with us.’......

“It may well be that the aptitude for communicating clearly
may be as rare as the gifts that make a great artist, or a great
mathematician, or a great philosopher. [Why not a
great medium? H.H.]...It may well be that, owing to
the change connected with death itself, the ¢spirit’
may at first be much confused, and such confusion may last for
a long time....If my own ordinary body could be preserved in
its present state, and I could absent myself from it for days or
months or years, and continue my existence under another set
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of conditions altogether, and if I could then return to my own
body, it might well be that I should be very confused and in-
coherent at first in my manifestations by means of it. How
much more would this be the case were I to return to another
human body.... Now the communicators through Mrs. Piper’s
trance exhibit precisely the kind of confusion and incoherence
which it seems to me we have some reason a4 prior: to expect if
they are actually what they claim to be. And G. P. himself
appeared to be well aware of this. Thus he wrote on February
15th, 1894 :—

“¢Remember we share and always shall have our friends in
the dream-life, i.e., your life so to speak, which will attract us
forever and ever, and so long as we have any friends sleeping in
the material world;—you to us are more like as we understand
sleep, you look shut up as one in prison, and in order for us to
get into communication with you, we have to enter into your
sphere, as one like yourself asleep. [Is this the twaddle that so
many friends say G. P. could not have talked? H.H.] This is
just why we make mistakes as you call them, or get confused
and muddled, so to put it, H. [R. H. repeats in his own lan-
guage.] Your thoughts do grasp mine. Well now you have just
what I have been wanting to come and make clear to you, H., old
fellow. (It is quite clear.) Yes, you see I am more awake than
asleep, yet I cannot come just as I am in reality, independently
of the medium’s light. (You come much better than the others.)
Yes, because I am a little nearer and not less intelligent than
some others here.””

(Pr.XIIL,371f.) : “ The complex mass of manifestations falls
into systematic order if we relate them to the supposed still ex-
isting personalities of the dead, and they fall into no systematic
order in relation to the consciousnesses of the living. There are
perturbations in the results which vary according to the invisible
personalities who claim to be there, and not according to visible
living persons...... .

“ The sitter who hopes for a communication from a ¢ deceased’
friend can scarcely expect to get it unless his thoughts and emo-
tions are directed towards that friend with longing sympathy.
[I got at least the semblance without any thought of who was
to communicate, and shut off any communication that threat-
ened to come from anyone specially dear to me. But perhaps I
did not need any ‘longing sympathy,” as Phinuit says I am a
medium. H.H.] It may well be supposed that such a friend
though living in  another world’ may be conscious of such an
appeal, but it would be unreasonable to suppose that the ¢ dead’
are perpetually waiting upon the living, whether the latter are
longing for their presence or not. And it may even be that the
state of mind of some persons is actually repellent to the efforts
which their ‘ deceased ’ friends make to communicate, as I have
witnessed, I believe, on more than one occasion.......
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“ There are of course many cases where communicators appear
who were not in the conscious minds of the sitters, and these
taken together point as a group to the existence of independent
intelligences.... [Once as] Mrs. Piper was coming out of the
trance, the voice shouted excitedly, ¢ Tell Aleck Bousser [pseudo-
nym]...not to leave them alone” Miss Edmunds [the sitter]
knew nothing of Aleck Bousser, but he was well-known to me. ...
T sent the message immediately to A. B., and received the follow-
ing reply :—

“¢There certainly do happen to be some people I just was hap-
pening to have been debating about in my own mind in a way
that makes your short message perfectly significant and natural,
I am sorry thus to be obliged to feed your credulity, for I hate
your spirits.”

“ .....That Madame Elisa should select some significant cir-
cumstance in connection with living friends or relatives is in-
telligible; but to suppose thdt a fragment of Mrs, Piper’s person-
ality selects it is not intelligible,—it is not explanatory, and
suggests no order.”

Of confused communications from persons who had had
long illnesses or disordered minds, he says (Pr. XITI, 375f.) :

“To suppose that the mass of facts associated in my mind,
supraliminal and subliminal, with A., and bound by strong sym-
pathy, should result in incoherencies of expression from ¢ A/
when contemporary communications from other persons were
clear, is not explanatory. The circumstances suggest a confu-
sion in the actual communicator A., and when we remember that
his head frequently troubled him for some years before his death,
and when we find a similar confusion manifesting itself in con-
nection with other communicators who suffered for a long time
under confusing bodily conditions, the facts begin to fall into
order....Prolonged bodily disturbance, especially if associated
with mental disturbance, in the communicator while living,
seems invariably to be followed by confusion in his early attempts
at communication.......

“In all these cases the confusion persisted through varying
conditions of Mrs. Piper’s trance, and while clear communica-
tions were received from other persons; and yet, so far as the
sitters’ minds were concerned, there seemed no assignable reason
why the communications were not clear originally, or did not
soon become clear, if dependent upon living persons.... We get
all varieties of communication; some of them, purporting to
come from persons who when living were much mentally dis-
turbed, suggesting the incoberency of delirium; others of them,
purporting to come from persons who have been dead very many
years, suggesting a fainter dreaminess; others, purporting to
come from persons recently deceased whose minds have been
clear, showing a corresponding clearness in communication....
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My own conclusion as to what might be anticipated in such
cases, where the communicators when living suffered from pro-
longed bodily weakness or extreme mental disturbance, is a late
induction of my own, forced upon me by experience, and
strengthened by various statements of the communicators them-
selves concerning the causes of confusion.”

(Pr.XIIL,3771.) : “ Again, that persons just ‘ deceased’ should
be extremely confused and unable to communicate directly, or
even at all, seems perfectly natural after the shock and wrench
of death. Thus in the case of Hart (p. 517), he was unable to
write the second day after death. In another case (Pr.XII1,440)
a friend of mine, whom I may call D., wrote, with what appeared
to be much difficulty, his name and the words, ‘I am all right
now. Adieu,” within two or three days of his death. In another
case, F., a near relative of Madame Elisa (Pr.XIII,333), was
unable to write on the morning after his death.! On the second
day after, when a stranger was present with me for a sitting, he
wrote two or three sentences, saying, ‘I am too weak to articu-
late clearly,” and not many days later he wrote fairly well and
clearly, and dictated also to Madame Elisa, as amanuensis, an
account of his feelings at finding himself in his new surround-
ings. Both D. and F. became very clear in a short time. D.com-
municated later on frequently, both by writing and speech, chiefly
the latter, and showed always an impressively marked and char-
acteristic personality. Hart, on the other hand, did not become
so clear till many months later. I learned long afterwards that
his illness had been much longer and more fundamental than I
had supposed.

“1 [Note.]—The notice of his death was in a Boston morning
paper, and I happened to see it on my way to the sitting. The
first writing of the sitting came from Madame Elisa, without my
expecting it. She wrote clearly and strongly, explaining that
F. was there with her, but unable to speak directly, that she
wished to give me an account of how she had helped F. to reach
her. She said that she had been present at his death-bed, and
had spoken to him, and she repeated what she had said, an un-
usual form of expression, and indicated that he had heard and
recognized her. This was confirmed in detail in the only way
possible at that time, by a very intimate friend of Madame Elisa
and myself, and also of the nearest surviving relative of F. I
showed my friend the account of the sitting, and to this friend,
a day or two later, the relative, who was present at the death-
bed, stated spontaneously that F. when dying said that he saw
Madame Elisa who was speaking to him, and he repeated what
she was saying. The expression so repeated, which the relative
quoted to my friend, was that which I had received from Madame
Elisa through Mrs. Piper’s trance, when the death-bed incident
was of course entirely unknown to me.”

(Pr.X1I1,380) : “There is often a confusion in result which
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is not the confusion of the communicator’s mind..:. Thus when
¢ Mrs. Mitchell’ was requested to repeat words which we had
difficulty in deciphering, she wrote:—

“¢No, I can’t, it is too much work and too weakening, and I
cannot repeat—you must help me and I will prove myself to
you. I cannot collect my thoughts to repeat sentences to you.
My darling husband, I am not away from you, but right by your
side. Welcome me as you would if I were with you in the flesh
and blood body. [Sitter asks for test.]...I cannot tell myself
just how you hear me, and it bothers me a little...how do you
hear me speak, dear, when we speak by thought only? But your
thoughts do not reach me at all when I am speaking to you, but
I hear a strange sound and have to half guess.

“[H.] Of such confusions as I have indicated above I cannot
find any satisfactory explanation in ¢ telepathy from the living,’
but they fall into a rational order when related to the personali-
ties of the ‘dead.’”

(Pr.XII1,382f.) : “ Much light seems to me to have been
thrown upon Phinuit’s mistakes and obscurities and general
method of trying to get at facts, in what were on the whole bad
sittings, by comparison of the results obtained from the various
communicators writing directly or using G. P. as amanuensis;
and I feel pretty sure that much of Phinuit’s ¢ fishing’ was due
to the confusions of the more or less comatose communicators
whose minds had let loose, so0 to speak, a crowd of earthly mem-
ories. And in cases where we should a priori be led to expect
that the communicators would certainly not be confused, or, if
they were confused, the confusion would not make much differ-
ence, Phinuit was particularly successful. These cases, in which
there was also a little direct communication with the voice, seem
to me to afford a special argument in themselves in favor of the
¢spirit’ hypothesis. They may be contrasted with the type of
extreme failures which I have connected with chronic morbid
habits or disruptive dominant ideas. The cases I refer to are
those of little children recently deceased.”

This seems to me a very strong point. Its force will be
realized by most of those who read the Sutton and Thaw sit-
tings. Phinuit, “the preposterous old scoundrel,” is emi-
nently “the children’s friend.”

(Pr.XIIL,390): “In very good sittings of the old type, the
sitter’s surname was rarely given. What is it, then, that in the
G. P. communications happened to give the surnames of the
particular group of persons known to G. P.? What is it that
selected the thirty persons recognized as G. P.s friends and
knew their appropriate relations with G. P. living? Why should
the supposed Mrs. Piper’s telepathic power succeed so strangely
with these G. P. recognitions, and be so failing and uncertain in
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the case of so many persons who happened to be unknown to
@. P. living? What was it that picked out the old associations
of Marte and the elub with Mr. Smith, and yet, with all this
supposed telepathic capacity failed to recognize Miss Warner,
who had changed so much that G. P. living would probably not
have recognized her, but who knew well herself, as I did also,
that she had met G. P. in years gone by?...It suggests the ex-
istence of something which has the perceptions and memories of
@G. P....Otherwise we must make some such extraordinary sup-
position as that all G. P.s friends were good telepathic agents
with Mrs. Piper as percipient, and . . . that they showed this united
telepathic capacity only as regards their relations with G. P.”

(Pr.XII1,367) : “It will be obvious, I think, upon such con-
siderations as these, and similar ones, that the confusion and
failure which we find in Mrs. Piper’s trance communiecations,
are so far from being what we should not expect, that they are
exactly what we should expect, if the alleged spirits are com-
municating.”

Hodgson sums up his conclusions as follows (Pr. XIII,
391£.) :

“The persistent failures of many communicators under vary-
ing conditions; the first failures of other communicators who
soon develop into clearness in communicating, and whose first
attempts apparently can be made much clearer by the assistance
of persons professing to be experienced communicators; the spe-
cial bewilderment, soon to disappear, of communicators shortly
after death and apparently in consequence of it; the character
of the specific mental automatisms manifest in the communica-
tions; the clearness of remembrance in little children recently
deceased as contrasted with the forgetfulness of childish things
shown by communicators who died when children many years
before,—all present a definite relation to the personalities alleged
to be communicating, and are exactly what we should expect if
they are actually communicating under the conditions of Mrs.
Piper’s trance manifestations. The results fit the elaim.

“On the other hand these are not the results which we should
expect on the hypothesis of telepathy from the living. That
persons who must be assumed on this hypothesis to be good
agents otherwise, should fail continuously and repeatedly with
certain persons as ¢ communicators ’; that first communicators of
a clearer type should show, especially when themselves pro-
fessedly directly communicating, the peculiar strangeness which
they do even to experienced agents who are familiar with the
modus operandt of the communication; that there should be a
special temporary bewilderment shown in cases immediately
after death and that this should be followed in a few days by a
comparatively complete clearness in various cases where there is
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no assignable change in the agent (unless it were a diminution
of his telepathic power); that there should be specific mental
automatisms which suggest, not the mind of the supposed agent,
or the mind of the supposed percipient, but the mind of the
¢ deceased ’ person; that memories of little children recently de-
ceased should have a special telepathic agency,—such results we
have no reason to expect from what we know or have reason to
surmise concerning telepathic action between one incarnate liv-
ing person and another.

“Further there are certain kinds of successes with particular
communicators connected with their knowledge and recognition
of friends, shown most notably in the case of G. P., but exhibited
to some extent by others also (e.g., Madame Elisa and Louis R.)
which suggest the recollections and continued interest in per-
sonal friends living which we should naturally expect from the
alleged communicators themselves, but for which there seems to
be no adequate cause in Mrs. Piper’s percipient personality.

“In general, then, we may say that there are on the one hand’
various limitations in the information shown through Mrs.
Piper’s trance, which are primd facie explicable on the assump-
tion that it comes from the alleged communicators, and for
which we can find no corresponding limitations in the minds of
living persons; and on the other hand, that there are various
selections of information given in connection with particular
communicators, which are intelligible if regarded as made by the
alleged communicators themselves, but for which discrimination
there is no satisfactory explanation to be found by referring
them to Mrs. Piper’s personality. With one class of deceased
persons Mrs. Piper’s supposed telepathic percipience fails; with
another class it succeeds; and it fails and succeeds apparently
in accordance with what we should expect from the minds of
the deceased, and not in accordance with what we should expect
from the minds of living persons acting upon Mrs. Piper’s per-
cipient personality....I do not think that there is evidence
enough producible to make this pointing a certainty. But, so
far as it goes, it suggests that the ‘natural grouping’ of the
facts affiliates them to the personalities of the dead.......

“If the information given at the sittings, both in matter and
form, was limited by the knowledge possessed by the sitters, we
should have no hesitation in supposing that it was derived from
their minds, telepathically or otherwise; but enough examples
are cited in this report alone to show that the information given
is not so limited. We must then make the arbitrary supposi-
tions that Mrs. Piper’s percipient personality gets into relation
with the minds of distant living persons, (1) who are intimate
friends of the sitters at the time of the sitting (e.g., Pr.XI1I,
297, Hart’s sitting and references to the studs and the Howards,
ete.), and (2) who are scarcely known, or not at all known, to the
sitter (e.g., MacDonough messages, p. 340, and Aleck Bousser
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message, p. 372). And many of these distant living persons had,
so far as they knew, never been near Mrs. Piper. These cases
then compel us to assume a selective capacity in Mrs. Piper’s
percipient personality, and not only selective as to the occur-
rences themselves, but discriminative as to the related persons;
that is to say, attaching the various pieces of knowledge respec-
tively to the fictitious personalities whom, if real and living, the
events in question would have concerned. If now we widen this
supposed percipient personality of Mrs. Piper, and differentiate
its parts so as to cover all the various successes of the com-
municators described in this report, with the verisimilitudes of
the different personalities of the ¢ deceased,” and so as to cover
also all the types of confusion and failure, and so as to allow for
the yet increasing number of new communicators, we reach a
conception which goes as far as the ¢ spirit’ hypothesis itself.”

To the point touched before—the liability of the sympa-
thetic sitter to be fooled—Hodgson contributes as follows
(Pr. XIII, 396) :

“If the investigator persistently refuses to regard the com-
munications as coming from the sources claimed, he will not get
the best results. If, on the other hand, he acts on the hypothesis
that the communicators are ¢ spirits,’ acting under adverse con-
ditions, and if he treats them as he would a living person in a
similar state, he will find an improvement in the communica-
tions. ... To describe it as it appears, the ¢ spirit’ in the attempt
to communicate seemed like a living friend wandering in his
mind owing to an aceident. To clear such a person’s mind we
should soothe him, not bother him with questions, but let him
unburden his mind of whatever his dominant ideas were, remind
him of strong associations that were dear to him, express sym-
pathy, ete., ete.; but to ask him one question after another, to
put him through a cross-examination and expect him to have all
the answers ready at once, would obviously not be conducive to
anything but a worse confusion. And having tried the hypothe-
sis of telepathy from the living for several years, and the ¢ spirit’
hypothesis also for several years, I have no hesitation in affirm-
ing with the most absolute assurance that the ¢ spirit > hypothesis
is justified by its fruits, and the other hypothesis is not.”

(Pr.XI11,398-9) : “ Since Phinuit’s ‘ departure’ [explained be-
low] the voice has been used on a few rare occasions only, and
almost exclusively by communicators who purported to be rela-
tives of the sitters, and who had used the voice before Phinuit’s
¢ departure.’ ... But there never seemed to be any confusion be-
tween the personality using the hand, whether this was ¢ clear®
or not, and the personality using the voice.”

This consideration and those before associated with it seem
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to me more for the spiritistic hypothesis than any others
which we have met so far.

I may have occasion to quote farther from this Hodgson
report.

We have seen the explosion of the Imperator gang. We
now have the honor to assist at its reconstruction. Make out
of it what you can: it’s too much for me. The puzzle is that
the thing worked. Hodgson thus refers to Professor New-
bold’s sittings (Pr. XIII, 408f.) :

“Tn the summer of 1895, when a friend of mine was having a
series of sittings with Mrs. Piper...statements were made by
G. P. denying the so-called  obsession by evil spirits.” My friend
referred to the alleged ¢ Spirit Teachings’ published by W. S.
Moses, and...later on W. S. Moses purported to communicate.
...He was confused and incoherent...gave entirely wrong
names. . .concerning the real identity of the Imperator, Doctor
and Rector mentioned in his ¢ Spirit Teachings,” and failed later
...to answer test-questions. ... Later still, however, he did fur-
nish some private information unknown to the sitters and after-
wards verified.......

“T pointed out to G. P. the importance of making W. S.
Moses ¢ clear.’. .. The final result was that W. S. Moses professed
to get the assistance of his former ¢ controls,” who...demanded
that the control of Mrs. Piper’s ¢ light ’ should be placed in their
hands. ... ¢ Imperator’ claimed that the indiscriminate experi-
menting with Mrs. Piper’s organism should stop, that it was a
‘battered and worn’ machine, and needed much repairing; that
‘he’ with his ¢ assistants,’ ‘ Doctor,” ¢ Rector,” &e., would repair
it as far as possible, and that in the meantime other persons
must be kept away....Phinuit’s last appearance was on Janu-
ary 26th, 1897. Later on, other alleged ‘ communicators’ were
specified as persons who would not injure the ‘light’...and
various persons who have had sittings in previous years with
Mrs, Piper had opportunities of being present, and... were all
struck by the improvement in the clearness and coherence of the
communications. ... Most remarkable has been the change in
Mrs. Piper herself....Instead of the somewhat violent contor-
tions ... when Phinuit ¢ controlled,’ she passes into trance calmly,
easily, gently; and whereas there used to be frequently indica-
tions of dislike and shrinking when she was losing consciousness,
the reverse is now the case; she seems rather to rejoice at her
¢ departure,” and to be in the first instance depressed and dis-
appointed when, after the trance is over, she ‘ comes to herself’
once more in this ‘dark world ’ of ours.... Various attempts by
these new ‘ controls’ to describe contemporaneous incidents oc-
curring elsewhere in this world have been notable failures. On
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the other hand there have been a few cases. .. where opportunity
has been given for tests purporting to come from recently ¢ de-
ceased ’ persons . . . the results as a whole have been much clearer
and more coherent than they were in similar cases formerly.
¢ Imperator’ occasionally purported to produce the writing, not,
however, as amanuensis for any other person, and seemed to be
free, in a way that no other communicator was free, from
"writing’ the disturbing thoughts of other communicators.
[This accords with his claim to superiority, H.H.] The chief
amanuensis now purports to be ¢ Rector.” G. P. would occasion-
ally write a little, making some personal inquiries, etc.”

Regarding Imperator and his companions, James says
gomething which goes to the root of the whole business, and
which, though it is episodic to the Hodgson narrative, may
as well be considered here (Pr. XXIII, 3) :

“Dr. Hodgson was disposed to admit the claim to reality of
Rector and of the whole Imperator-Band of which he is a mem-
ber, while I have rather favored the idea of their all being dream-
creations of Mrs. Piper, probably having no existence except
when she is in trance, but consolidated by repetition into per-
sonalities consistent enough to play their several réles. Such at
least is the dramatic impression which my acquaintance with the
sittings has left on my mind. I can see no contradiction be-
tween Rector’s being on the one hand an improvised creature of
this sort, and his being on the other hand the extraordinarily
impressive personality which he unquestionably is. He has mar-
velous discernment of the inner states of the sitters whom he
addresses, and speaks straight to their troubles as if he knew
them all in advance. He addresses you as if he were the most
devoted of your friends. He appears like an aged and, when he
speaks instead of writing, like a somewhat hollow-voiced clergy-
man, a little weary of his experience of the world, endlessly
patient and sympathetic, and desiring to put all his tenderness
and wisdom at your service while you are there. Critical and
fastidious sitters have recognized his wisdom, and confess their
debt to him as a moral adviser. With all due respect to Mrs.
Piper, I feel very sure that her own waking capacity for being
a spiritual adviser, if it were compared with Rector’s, would fall
greatly behind.”

“ With all due respect” for Professor James’s opinion, I
think I do “see “a’ contradiction,” and I see the contradic-
tion because, with Professor James, “I feel very sure that
her own waking capacity for being a spiritual adviser, if it
were compared with Rector’s, would fall greatly behind.”

If the Imperator band were merely, as James suggests,
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“dream creations . . . consolidated by repetition into per-
sonalities,” and if in “ her own waking capacity ” “ compared
with Rector’s” she would “fall greatly behind,” how could
she make anything “ consolidated by repetition ” so superior
to herself? How can she do better as Rector than she can
as herself? The whole scheme seems to me akin to the
DuPrel and Myers scheme of making a man lift himself
higher than his head by his own boot-straps; and beside it the
spiritistic hypothesis seems simplicity and probability them-
selves. But this does not prove the spiritistic hypothesis the
correct one, though it does add probability to the hypothesis
of the cosmic soul with telepathy of varying degrees between
its individual components.

Considerable study of reports of séances, and a little experi-
ence with Foster and Mrs. Piper, have failed to give me any
reason to believe that Mrs. Piper, in either the normal or the
trance state, manifests, from her own mind, a power of char-
acterization equal, if not superior, to any other ever mani-
fested on earth, and a fertility certainly unequaled. She has
either been the mouthpiece of actual characters, or has made
many more characters than Shakespere did, including the Rec-
tor whom James so praises—all of them individual, distinet,
and vivid. I fail even to see any adequate reason why, in her
trance state, she should, of herself, manifest powers so im-
measurably superior to any that she shows in her ordinary
state. The simplest individual, incarnate (or discarnate?),
of course manifests himself in a way that the most skilful
dramatist could not equal, and it may well be questioned
whether it is not more rational to assume that the hundreds of
alleged personalities dramatized in the words and gestures of
Mrs. Piper are manifestations by the personalities themselves,
than that they are creations of some as yet unknown kind of
genius residing in some layer of Mrs. Piper’s consciousness,
and getting its material from fragments among her own
memories or those of other living persons, present or remote.

Hodgson closes his report (Pr. XIII, 409) :

“Tt has been stated repeatedly that the ‘channel is not yet
clear,’ that the machine is still in process of repair; and it has
been prophesied that I shall myself return eventually to America
and spend several years further in the investigation of Mrs.






CHAPTER XXXV
PROFESSOR NEWBOLD'S REPORT

Ix 1891-5 Professor William Romaine Newbold of the Uni-
versity of Pennsylvania had twenty-six sittings with Mrs.
Piper, and investigated the details of seven others held on
his behalf by Hodgson. They are reported by the Professor
in Pr. XIV. The report is given as Part II, Hodgson’s report
in Pr. XIII being Part I. It is short and attractive in both
material and editing, and therefore makes Part XXXIV of
Vol. XIV peculiarly available for a reader who wants merely
a good specimen at first hand.

Professor Newbold says (Pr. XIV, 7):

“ With regard to the origin of the information given, I have
no theory to offer. I can frame none to which I cannot myself
allege unanswerable objections. . .. Even without resorting to the
assumption of a telepathic relation between the sitter and the
‘medium,” no one who bas seen how readily an acute ‘ medium’
will construct an appropriate spirit’ message upon the sugges-
tions furnished by a sitter’s looks and words will be easily con-
vinced by any such record as I here offer.

“ This is a legitimate objection, and to some extent impairs the
value of the evidence....The alleged spirits of those who bad
but recently died, or who had died a violent death, or who had
been bound to the sitter by strong emotional ties, nearly always
display great excitement and confusion.”

This fact is of course not restricted to Professor New-
bold’s sittings, and it may make a little for the telepathic
hypothesis, as, other things even, the sitter’s vivacity would
.be greatest regarding those most recently living. But there
are obvious reasons why it makes even more for the spiritistic
hypothesis. Remember this when you come to the Hodgson
control. Professor Newbold continues (Pr. XIV, 9):

“Individual scraps of information may be ascribed with some
show of plausibility to a telepathic or cla]rvoyant origin, the
arrangement of these scraps into mosaics of thought, which,

531
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however defaced, still often irresistibly suggest the habits, tastes,
and memories of some friend deceased—for this I know of no
telepathic or clairvoyant analogy. For example, the demand
made by ¢ aunt Sally’ that I should identify myself by expound-
ing the significance of ‘ two marriages in this case, mother and
aunt grandma also,” admits of no satisfactory telepathic explana-
tion. The fact was known to me and might have been got
telepathically, But why is the dream personality of the only
communicator who died in my childhood the only one who seeks
to identify me?”

In this case of “ Aunt Sally” G. P. says (Pr. XIV, 341f.) :

“¢Your aunt... at first she could not make you out....” [Here
come confused statements.] Finally the hands stops writing and
motions to me. After several changes of position, which seem
unsatisfactory to G. P., I get on my feet and the hand feels
around the lower edge of my waistcoat, pausing to write] excuse
this uncanny procedure [finally presses firmly on median line
about the lowest button of my waistcoat and writes] ask
mot[her?] she remembers this, Will....[My aunt died of the
effects of an operation for the removal of an ovarian cyst.]......

“ There is or was two marriages in the elderly lady’s family.
[¢ Sally ’ was gray when she died] which they do not seem to be
able to unravel just now (I understand, Mr. Pelham.) O.K....
just say this for their satisfaction so they may be quite sure you
understand them and that you are you. [I explain that my pater-
nal grandfather was twice married, that his second wife had a
younger sister whom my father married many years after his
father’s death; she is my mother. The elder sister is still living,
and is therefore both my aunt and my step-grandmother.] Yes,
yes, yes, O. K. now you know what the aunt grandma meant to-
gether: aunt and grandma if you recall were given at the same
time. [This is a very interesting incident. My grandfather
died more than forty years ago, only eleven months after his
second marriage. We only recognize the tie of blood, and many
persons do not know that my aunt is also his widow. The sup-
posed speaker was another sister.] ”

Regarding all this Professor Newbold asks (Pr. XIV,
9-10) :

“ Why does she allude in so indirect a fashion to the mode of
her death? Certainly no stratum of my personality would have
felt hesitation in alluding to so commonplace a matter as a
laparotomy, or would have lacked suitable language in which
to express the allusion. ... Why was the faded personality of this
almost forgotten maiden aunt evoked at all? I was not ten years
old when she died, and she had been dead twenty years.... Why
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were these dim memories so clearly reflected, while others, far
stronger, produced no effect? Why were my memories, in
process of reflection, so refracted as to come seemingly not from
my masculine and adult point of view but from that of a spin-
ster aunt who could not at first recognize me with confidence,
and who, taking it for granted that her little nephew of ten had
not been informed as to the precise cause of her death, expected
him, although grown to man’s estate, to convey a very obvious
allusion to his mother for interpretation without himself know-
ing what it meant?......

“ Evidence of this sort does not suggest telepathy, it suggests
the actual presence of the alleged commumcators, and if it stood
alone I should have no hesitation in aceepting that theory. Un-
fortunately it does not stand alone. It is interwoven with ob-
scurity, confusion, irrelevancy, and error in a most bewildering
fashion. I agree with Dr. Hodgson that the description given by
the writers themselves of the conditions under which they are
laboring would, if accepted, account for a very large part of this
matter. But, even after the most gencrous allowance on this
score, there remains much which the writers cannot explain.
Easily first comes their almost total inability to observe and re-
port the phenomena of the material world, coupled with their
reiterated assertions that they can and will do so. Second should
be put, perhaps, the unaccountable ignorance which they often
betray of matters which upon any theory should have been well
known to them. [This tends to exclude telepathy. HH.] In the
third place, the general intellectual, as distinguished from the
moral and religious, tone of the more recent communications is
far lower than we would expect of beings who had long enjoyed
exceptional opportunities for the acquisition of knowledge. Con-
crete descriptions of the other world can be had indeed ad
infinitum, but of organized, systematized, conceptual knowledge
there is little trace.”

Perhaps their opportunities are overestimated, and perhaps
it is not in the system of things that such knowledge, even
if possessed by them, should reach us.

“From such inconsistent material one can draw no fixed con-
clusions. But there is one result which I think the investigation
into Mrs. Piper’s and kindred cases should achieve....Until
within very recent years the scientific world has tacitly rejected
a large number of important philosophical conceptions on the
ground that there is absolutely no evidence in their favor what-
ever. Among those popular conceptions are those of the essential
independence of the mind and the body, of the existence of a
supersensible world, and of the possibility of occasional com-
munication between that world and this.”

Of course there could be no direct evidence of the existence
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of a supersensible world, but I hope the presumption, even
as presented in the first book of this humble treatise, is not
too insignificant to be worth taking into account. I may say
the same of the ultimate independence of the mind and the
body as suggested in my early chapters. Professor Newbold
continues:

“ We have here, as it seems to me, evidence that is worthy of
consideration for all these points. It was well expressed by a
friend of mine, a scholar who has been known for his uncom-
promising opposition to every form of supernaturalism.”

When people say they don’t believe in “ the supernatural,”
what do they mean? No intelligent person would mean that
there is nothing knowable in the universe but what we already
know. This has been contradicted by each new acquisition of
knowledge, from the amceba’s first recoil from a contact,
down. The only other possible meanings seem to be the infre-
quent one that there is no intelligence but the incarnate one
we know, and the more frequent meaning that human intelli-
gence can have no communication with any other intelligence
than the incarnate. Poets, musicians, and nature-lovers are
not apt to admit the claim. An “opposition to every form of
supernaturalism ” is a pretty big undertaking.

Professor Newbold goes on (pp. 10-11) to say that his
friend, who was opposed “ to every form of supernaturalism,”
“had a sitting with Mrs. Piper, at which very remarkable dis-
closures were made, and shortly afterwards said to me, in effect,
 Scientific men cannot say much longer that there is no evidence
for a future life. I have said it, but I shall say it no longer; I
know now that there is evidence, for I have seen it. I do not
believe in a future life. I regard it as one of the most im-
probable of theories. The evidence is scanty and ambiguous and
insufficient, but it is evidence and it must be reckoned with.’”

The alleged spirit of a friend, “F. A. M., said to Pro-
fessor Newbold (Pr. XIV, 14):

¢ Billie what are you doing here” [hand reaches up and feels
my face, strokes, and grasps my beard, pats me appreciatingly,
and writes] changed a little. [I had seen F. A. M. only once in
about five years. Prior to that I wore a mustache only. On
that one occasion we took dinner together and I then wore a
beard. The hand throughout betrayed a great deal of emotional
excitement which, as well as the affectionate expressions. was
very unlike the ¥. A. M. whom I had known.] ”
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I have an impression that the controls generally show much
more affection than their professed originals did in life. G. P.
certainly did with me. It reminds me of a phenomenon I had
often noticed: at the clubs, on returning to town after the
summer, you can generally tell which men have been abroad,
by the unusual effusiveness of their greeting. This seems to
make for the genuineness of the controls. At a sitting two
days later, says Professor Newbold (Pr. XIV, 16):

“While G. P. was writing Phinuit was talking to me [i.e.,
the medium bad two controls at once. See p. 462. H.H.]
Several times he made remarks such as, ‘ Now, don’t be in a
hurry, you’ll have plenty of time to talk soon,” which I could
not understand. I asked him what he meant, saying that I was
not in a hurry and never said I was. To this Phinuit replied
that he was talking to a young man in the spirit who was in a
great hurry to begin communicating.”

After much interesting matter, the young man says (p. 17) :

“‘Do you know, dear fellows, you will ever be rewarded for
helping me to reach you in this light and trying to free my poor
imprisoning mind. [R. H. explains this remark to us. Writer
is struck with his ready comprehension.] Yes.... Yes, exactly,
sir,——who are you? I cannot touch you sir, or reach you,
sir. [R. H. moves his head forward; hand feels his head.] Do
not know you sir.” [It is explained who R. H. is.] ”

The idea of Mrs. Piper not knowing Hodgson strikes one
as very funny. Those who call the whole exhibition frandu-
lent would at least admit this to be very good play-acting.
The same young man continues (p. 17) :

“¢Ever since then I have been trying to reach you, Dick.
[Brother present. HH.] I saw a light and many faces beckon-
ing me on and trying to comfort me, showing and assuring me
T should soon be all right, and almost instantly I found I was.
Then I called for you, and tried to tell you all,—where I was...
after all)) after all, sir,—put this)) after the word all) [N.
guesses at meaning.] Not at all... after the) after the) [mean-
ing understood, viz, comma after all.] Yes, I never used to write
badly, what’s the matter with me now, Dick, don’t I write well?2’”

Perhaps these trivialities may be more apocalyptic than
they seem: for they indicate pretty strongly that there is
something more than telepathy at work. The sitting con-
cludes:
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“¢QOh, Dick, I did not mean to do anything wrong...stick...
yes, sir, I will go in presently. (R. H.: You mean out.) Out,
sir...Dick...love to Ma...Dick, God bless you and B. always
...must I go...good bye...not good bye...not good bye. T’ll
see you again...fid’ [find?] P £{?] H. [Hand takes pencil again
later, and writes Pistol.] [D. M.: Death resulted from a pistol
shot.] ”

Is this drama telepathy?
At a later sitting on June 26, 1894, Phinuit said (Pr.
XIV, 25):

“¢QOh, Hodgson, if you only knew what people said of you
here! (What do they say, doctor?) They say you are a brute,
Hodgson. I tell you that lady [a control. H.H.] won’t come
back for you now. Why did you speak so roughly to her. [H.
expresses his regret and says it was necessary that she should go
and she did not do so when asked, ete.] You ought to coax and
not drive her away. George and I have been trying to coax her
to 1come but her feelings are hurt and I do not believe that she
will.””

Is this telepathy?

Case IX. (Pr.XIV,36f.)
W. Stainton Moses.

“ [At the sitting of June 19th, 1895, (Present: W. R. N.)
George Pelham was telling me how the future state of the soul
is affected by its earthly life]—It is only the body that sins and
not the soul (Does the soul carry with it into its new life all
its passions and animal appetites?) Oh no indeed, not at all.
Why my good friend and scholar you would have this world of
ours a decidedly material one if it were so. (Do you know of
Stainton Moses?) No, not very much. Why? (Did you ever
know of him or know what he did?) I only have an idea from
bhaving met him here. (Can you tell me what he said?) No,
only that he was W. Stainton Moses. I found him for ‘E.’ and
Hodgson. [E. was the alleged spirit of Edmund Gurney. Why
couldn’t he find Moses for himself? My old friend George Pel-
ham seems to have succeeded Mercury as general messenger—
about the last function I should have expected him to venture.
H.H.] (Did you tell Hodgson this?) I do not think so. (Did
he say anything about his mediumship?) No. (His writings
claimed that the soul carried with it all its passions and appe-
tites and was very slowly purified of them.) It is all untrue.
(And that the souls of the bad hover over the earth goading
ginners on to their own destruction.) Nof so. Not at [all] so.
I claim to understand this and it is emphatically not so. Sin-
ners are sinners only in one life.

“ [The next day, June 20th, I said] (Can you bring Stainton
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Moses here?) I will do my best. (Is he far advanced?) Oh no,
I should say not. He will have to think for awhile yet. (What
do you mean?) Well, have you forgotten all I told you before?
(You mean about progression by repentance?) Certainly I do.
(Wasn’t he good?) Yes, but not perfect by any means. (Was
he a true medium?) True, yes, very true. (Had he light?)
Yes. (Yet not all true?) Yes, but his light was very true, yet
he made a great many mistakes and deceived himself. [The
reader is advised to have in mind these qualifications. H.H.]
[At the close of the sitting I said:] (I want to see Stainton
Moses.) Well, if I do not bring him do not be disappointed,
because I will if I can find him.

“[On the 21st, I asked again about Stainton Moses.] I can-
not bring Stainton Moses because he is not in my surroundings
yet. (Can you explain this further?) Well, of course I cannot
bring every known person here just when you wish. (How
about your surroundings?) This is a large sphere. I have the
doctor after him now. [To some forgotten question] No, wait
patiently and I will wake him up when he arrives. (Is he
asleep?) Oh, B—— you are stupid I fear at times, your mind
is like a lightening...machine...I do not mean wake him up
in a material sense. (Nor did 1.) Well then, old man, don’t
be wasting light. (I’'m not wasting light but I’'m bound to find
out what you mean.) Well, this is what I wish also. (Stainton
Moses has been nearly three years in the spirit—a long time.)
Yes. (Do you mean to say that he is not yet free from confu-
sion?) No. (Do you mean that he will be confused in getting
at the medium?) Certainly, a little, this is why I use the ex-
pression, wake him up.

“[On the 22nd, Phinuit said], do you know Billie, George is
talking to such 2 funny looking man; he has a long double coat
with a large collar and cape,—a long beard, large eyes with droop-
ing lids, [fairly shouts with laughter] [i.e. Phinuit does. H.H.]”

And now who should turn up but our old friend Stainton
Moses? The description just given, and what follows, left
me with the impression of an almost comical figure of an
eccentric recluse. That figure was not out of accord with
what I knew before, or with the strong and almost majestic
portrait of Moses after death, in Pr. IX. Judge my surprise,
then, on getting over a copy of Moses’s Spirit Teachings,
to find the portrait of Moses which serves as frontispiece that
of & man turned out by a very good tailor and very good
barber, with a gardenia in his buttonhole. The book contains
also a portrait of him at about G. P.’s age at death.

Since I wrote that last sentence, I have received an argu-
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ment for spiritism beside which all others I know seem, for
the moment at least, to sink into comparative insignificance,
and all against it to impotence. I took the younger portrait
to my wife, who is a remarkable judge of likenesses and
draws them well, covered the lower part of the long beard
with my hand, and asked her whose portrait it was. She
said: “ Hodgson.” I said: “No: look again.” She said: “ It
isn’t George Pelham, is it?” I said: “No, but it’s much
more like him than Hodgson: it has George’s softer and more
contemplative expression, and lacks Hodgson’s air of resolu-
tion.” She answered: “ Yes, perhaps youre right.” The
difference of expression prevented my being reminded of
Hodgson at all.

The three most prominent alleged delegates, then, from the
world beyond our present ordinary senses to the world of
sense, are the alleged discarnate souls of three men who, when
here, looked so much alike that a portrait of one of them
was thought by an expert to be a portrait of either of the
two others. The implication is so startling that at first I
find it confusing, as perhaps the reader will, and he there-
fore may not think it banal for me to try to put it in terms.

Suppose a body of explorers to be divided in a storm.
Communication would be restored by those having certain
qualities of voice, and certain ingenuities in the construction
and use of signals—fires, torches, heliographs, etc. The men
having these qualities would inevitably have certain qualities
of countenance in common, and the more the qualities re-
quired for the special means employed are peculiar, arduous,
and pervasive of the entire character, the more alike the inevi-
table effects of character on countenance. It does not then
seem a forced conclusion that if the methods employed were
very peculiar and difficult, the few men able to use them
would have extraordinary points of physiognomical resem-
blance.

Now if bodily death is but a separation of discarnate spirits
from incarnate, and if communication between the respective
bands is difficult—so difficult as to be possible to but a
few, and through a few mediums, we would have in that
regard just the conditions of our separated explorers—a few
“gpirits” able to communicate, and a few persons able to
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act as mediums for the communications. Moreover, the few
communicators would have in common a rare and marked set
of psychical characteristics which, during their earthly careers,
would have been attended by marked physiognomical char-
acteristics in common—they would have looked alike. Now
that characteristic of the men on earth was so marked in the
faces of Moses, George Pelham, and Hodgson, that, as already
remarked, an expert says that a portrait of any one of them
serves well for either of the others. Does this not lead
directly to a presumption that the communications alleged to
proceed through Moses here, and from him and G. P. and
Hodgson hereafter, the latter communications abounding in
the characteristics which marked the men here, are really what
they purport to be? Does telepathy or teloteropathy or a
medium’s divided personality offer credentials nearly as strong
as this one? Is not the force of all apparent objections to the
communications being what they profess, materially dimin-
ished by this circumstance? I confess that it throws a heavy
weight into the spiritistic side of the scales that I have been
holding with varying ups and downs for many years.

Since writing the foregoing, I have shown my wife another
portrait, first covering an unusually heavy mustache. She
said: “ Well, I suppose it’s another one of Hodgson or George.
But of course I'm sophisticated in saying that, after what
you have just told me about the first portrait. But according
to the clearest judgment I can form, it would do for either
‘George or Hodgson, or the original of the portrait you showed
me before.”

It was Foster!

Some hours later I showed her another portrait, asking
her if it reminded her of anybody. “ Why, Hodgson!” she
exclaimed.

It was Stainton Moses—the frontispiece I have already
described. I had, you remember, previously shown her only
the younger portrait. She knew Hodgson, by the way, long
before his death, and had not seen him during his last years.

The resemblance of the other men to Foster, of course adds
to the probability of all being genuine communicators, but I
have not learned of Foster’s alleged spirit communicating from
the other side. His failure to show up may have some-
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thing to do with the fact that at his death all his faculties
had disappeared in connection with softening of the brain.
But one rebels at the idea that if there be a survival of death,
his strange genius and kindly nature should not have a part
in it—a greater part than that of commonplace souls.

T should add that the resemblance between these four men
i8 more marked in the black-and-white portraits than it was
in life. Hodgson was sandy-haired before he grew gray, and
burly. His eyes were bluish. Foster was burly, dark-haired,
dark-eyed. George Pelham was small and slight, with dark
hair and light eyes. Moses was burly.

I have often wondered why, of all people who have died
since G. P. reached maturity, he should have been the one to
show up through, or be shown up by, Mrs. Piper. In habits
and appearance he was an exceptionally unobtrusive person-
ality. In a roomful of people he was perhaps the last one to
impress a stranger or be engaged with a friend, except as his
presence became noticed through his ingenious and tenacious
support of some theory opposed to the convictions of the ma-
jority. If the room were not full, but shared with him by only
a few congenial persons, his presence would at once be felt as
of value. Had he lived longer, his literary and philosophical
tastes might have made him widely known. He had a few
close and warm friends in intellectual circles in both New
York and Boston, but to the world in general he died un-
known, and to the average members of the more intelligent
polite world who were friends of his exceptionally prominent
family—historic on both sides, he was the retiring, somewhat
eccentric, comparatively unknown member.

If the men of his grade of intellect in New York and
Boston had been called upon to pick out the one of them-
selves most apt to be determined by natural selection for the
place he has filled in the annals of Psychical Research, he
would have been as apt as anybody to be at the foot of the poll.

And now the mystery of his being placed by Nature in the
first rank, has been provisionally explained: his resemblance
to Moses, Hodgson, and Foster shows that he had the same
qualities which made them leaders in that mysterious depart-
ment on earth, and has continued either reflections of them
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(with the exception of Foster) or their surviving personalities,
as leaders since they departed from the sight of men. What,
then, are the implications from their common resemblance and
their common alleged communications after death with sur-
vivors ?

One theory is that, although G. P., as above explained, did
not usually impress himself at all, that type of man does so
impress himself upon virtually everyone he meets that hardly
one of them can sit with the “ medium ” who happens to have
lately been first, without making her act as if she were
herself the man of that type with whom the sitter had come
into contact—or, more improbable still, that although Mrs.
Piper had seen G. P. but once (when probably she didn’t see
him, being in trance most if not all of the time that he was
present), after his death, years later, there was a period of still
more years during which hardly anybody could be near her
in trance without making her act and talk like G. P.

Between these positions on the one hand, and, on the other
hand, the position that a surviving G. P., and not the sitter or
her memories, was the cause of Mrs. Piper’s phenomena, there
seems as yet no other position visible. Regarding which is
the less strained of the positions that are visible, the reader
will have his impressions, as I have mine. But suspension of
judgment is still in order.

To return to Professor Newbold’s Piper-Moses séance.
Phinuit continues (Pr. XIV, 37f.):

“ ¢ George is shaking his fingers at me. He sent me after that
gentleman. I found him in another part of our world. (Far
away?) It would be a long way to you Billie but not so far to
me. George had difficulty in having him come but they had a
long talk and George made it all right with him. He didn’t
understand what we wished of him. (Who is he?) I don’
know his name. George called me and sent me after him—you
understand Billie—said: “ You go and find him for me, doctor.”
(How did you know whom he wanted?) He said, “I want you
to find a friend of mine who used to be a medium in the body,”
used the light, you know. Oh he has a great deal of light, more
than anybody. (Do spirits have light too?) What d’you mean
Billie? Spirits are all light. (I mean does a person who has
light in the body have in the spirit also more light than others %)
Yes indeed. (Tell me how George made you know whom he
wanted.) He described him. (And his influence?) Of course.
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(You know it’s very hard for us to believe in spirits at all. Do
you remember your life on earth, doctor?) Oh yes, but I’ve been
here a very long time. (Did you believe in spirits while you
were on earth?) ([Phinuit gives a short derisive laugh.] Not
much. Not I. (Then you should sympathize with us.) ~ Oh, I
can’t put myself in your place.” [The above description of S. M.
answers to the notion I had of him at the time, derived from
portraits.]

Professor Newbold had apparently seen portraits made
under the auspices of a different tailor and a different barber
from those concerned in the frontispiece of the latest edition
of Spirit Teachings.

“[G. P. writing:] ‘ Here is Stainton Moses, do you wish to
see him? (Yes.) Well, now let me give you a bit of advice.
Speak slowly and distinctly, making sure that you articulate
properly, or in other words well. (I know my articulation is
very bad.) Yes, then he will answer to me all questions dis-
tinctly. You see he is talking to me now. Fire away. (Tell
him I have read with interest his book, Spirit Teachings, but
find in it statements apparently inconsistent with what you say,
and I would like to know his explanation of the fact.) Believe
you in me and my teachings? [Moses has taken hold, or G. P.
repeats for him. His quaint phraseology peters out before the
end of their interviews. H.H.] (I was much impressed with
them, Mr. Moses, especially as your statements and Mr. Pelham’s
agree in the main. But how about the inconsistencies?) Con-
tradict the genuine statements made by our friend Pelham,
whom I am delighted to meet. (I did not say contradict, al-
though it appears so. Can you explain them?) I do not under-
stand your question. (Will you explain these seeming contra-
dictions?) What are they, please sir{ (You taught that evil
spirits tempt sinners to their own destruction.) I have found
out differently since I came over here. This particular state-
ment given me by my friends as their medium when I was in
the body is not f{rue. (The second is that the soul carries its
passions and appetites with it.) Material passions, U N—irue.
It is not so. I have found out the difference. (Thank you.)
Not at all. (Would you like to make any other corrections in
your book?) There are a few. One is I believe that our
thoughts were practically the same here as in the body, i.e.,
that we had every desire after reaching this life as when it...
but I find that we leave all such behind, in other words it dies
with the body. You will understand I do not mean thoughts,
but only evil [thoughts]. [All this corresponds with G. P.’s
statement to me, and several others. H.H.] (Are you willing
to give me as tests the names of your ‘ guides.”) Guides, well I
object to the expression. [He uses it himself freely four days

4 .
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later. HH.] (Indeed.) I do now, yet I did not before. (These
names have never been made public since your death. If you
are willing to give them I would be glad to know.) I will give
you one. [I hand a new pencil. Hand turns and twists it some
moments before writing.] Pencil—well, well—oh I see. (Who
was ‘ Rector?’) Dr. (I repeat, Dr. ——1%) Yes sir. Rec-
tor applied for convenience instead of Dr. —— (You mean the
true name of the spirit Rector was Dr. ?) I do mean just
this, but I had no authority to speak of Rector as Dr. ——
(But there was another spirit known as Doctor.) I was obliged
to distinguish one from the other according to their wish. (Who
was the spirit ‘Doctor’?) X—— [X supplied by me, as the
dashes alone were confusing, H.H.] (Indeed. No one will be
told of this save Mr. Myers and Dr. Hodgson.) Thanks. (May
I tell the latter?) Certainly sir, if he is reliable. (He is.) T’ll
ask Mr. Pelham.... Certainly sirr, X—— was a very good man
sir and was always with me. Have you these? Did you hear
me? (Yes. Now are you willing to tell me the name of ‘Im-
perator’ also?) Well, I have never divulged this name to any-
one. I’ll think it over and let you know. [Moses professed
to have divulged it to Myers. HH.] (These names have never
been made public and they will afford excellent proof of your
identity.) I understand sir....I know Albert...I do—never
mind...this had to do with...understand...(How about the
physical phenomena produced through you?) It was not done
by any effort of mine or on my part. (Could such be produced
through this medium?) [They never have been. HH.] O

do not know sir. Generally the intelligences have their own
phases sir and work accordingly. (In your book, Mr. Moses, you
made certain statements about some historical personages, such
as Abraham, Moses, the Prophets, and Jesus Christ. Do you
wish to modify any of these?) Not at all (All are true?) To
the letter sir (You recollect nothing else in your book that you
would desire to change?) Not af all sir (Have you any mes-
sages to send to friends?) I have had a wonderful experience
here sir and I am extremely happy and I consider myself ex-
tremely fortunate sir to have been brought here by this gentle-
man...Spear [I spell it, spear. Hand writes] e (Oh you
mean speer?) Certainly...letter...my thoughts are not
quite clear, sir, yet...Speer...I have a friend...recollection
of speer [Writing is growing dreamy. I say] (You mean Charl-
ton T. Speer, the musician?) [Cf. p. 189. H.H.] [Excitement
and pounding.] Yes, yes, why certainly, give my love to my
affectionate brother worker in the body, my dearest love, love. ..
yes sir, I do wish to give it very much this reaches every chord
in my soul sir. (Do you remember Mr. F. W, H. Myers?) Oh
I think T do sir. Are you he? (No. I am a stranger to you.
He is editing and publishing some of your MSS.) Good, good,
good....I think I do...thanks sir for giving me this informa-
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tion regarding my book (I wished those names as proof of
your identity.) [Question misunderstood] Certainly I am
Stanton [only one stroke for n] Moses. (Do you remember
Richard Hodgson?) No, I think not sir, are you he? (No.
But he was a member of the Council of the Society for Psychical
Research while you were.) [At or about the word ‘Society’
the hand displayed great excitement.] [It will be remembered
that Moses broke with the society. HL-H.] Of course I remember
him. (He went to America.) Yes, I remember he went there
some time ago. (You are now in America, near Boston.) Well,
1 longed to go to America and this will open up a great field to
me. (Good-bye. Will you come again and speak to Dr. Hodg-
son?) I am of course a little strange here, yet nothing would
give me greater pleasure than to prove to the world my identity
I am sure. I was a great sufferer physically and I could not do
altogether as I wished in consequence, yet I am strong and well
here and as I can see through this light clearly I should be
pleased to help you all. (You will come again?) Yes sir. (And
then explain the reason for your mistakes?) Certainly sir. Oh
I am so pleased to return.” [Further writing, on personal mat-
ters, by G. P. At the close of the sitting Phinuit returns.
Speaks with difficulty] ¢ George has been teaching that man a
lesson, showing him how to use the light.’”

“ [Sitting of June 24th, 1895. Present: R. H. and W. R. N.
Mrs. Piper goes into trance easily, without the usual struggles.
[Suggestive, as she is coming under the control of a powerful
influence, that she should do so with special ease. H.LH.] R. H.
remarks that this is a new control. Her hands move aimlessly
about, touching her eyebrows and temples with the finger tips
and feeling Hodgson’s face. Gasps, peculiar rattling in her
throat, her face is very much contorted. [These are not
“the usual struggles.” H.H.] Ineffectual attempts to speak,
finally gasps out] ‘ Moses [Hodgson encourages communicator.
Head nods] (H.: ’m Hodgson.) [Head nods, she groans and
grunts, hands move about. Right hand begins to write. R. H.
asking questions] I am W. Stainton Moses I am he in reality.
Oh my dear sir I am so very delighted to find this bright path to
earth. (I’'m very glad indeed.) I am here in every organ of a
human body. (Yes, youw're occupying the medium’s body.) I
am a medium also. (Yes, we know.) I did see my spirits
plainly. How strange you look. Are you still in the life on
earth? (Yes.) You must necessarily be I am sure. (Yes.) Do
you remember one of our friends and fellow workers Dr. Wal-
lace? (You mean Alfred R. Wallace?) Certainly, very well,
my friend Wallace. (In the body?) Yes, give him my love.
(I will certainly.) Also Myers (Yes indeed) whom I remember
well. [Four days before, he said: “I think I do.” HH.] (Yes
I certainly will) all right. I had a spirit once named Wallace.
You never knew —— did you? (No I didn’t.) He was one of



Ch. XXXV] Moses Boggles Imperator Names 545

my guides when on earth. (What name did you give him, i.e.,
.) Rector, and not Dr. as I had explained to some friend of
yours. Rector was —— (——1%) Yes distinctly, he was Rector.
(Who was Doctor?) Not Wallace, but a Dr. T used
to know at college. [R. H. pronounces and spells the name
over.] Yes sir. It is very singular how the names of my
former friends and guides run in my mind...run through my
mind just now, at this moment. (Mr. Moses, I wish to tell you
something that will interest you. Mr. F. W. H. Myers, whom
you knew) quite (has been publishing a full account of your
life experiences in the Proceedings of the Society for Psychical
Research.) Viz, SP.R....good...oh glad I am to meet you
here. .. I will help you in your work. (We shall be glad indeed.
I wish to ask you one important question) let me clear up all
my thoughts and I will help you. (Do you wish to write your
own thoughts or answer questions?) I would like to become
acquainted with these conditions. (Good.) Myers what about
Myers. (Myers has been publishing a record of your experiences
and has referred to Rector, Doctor and Imperator, but explains
that the persons whom these names represented are not to be
mentioned.) Private. (But I understand that Myers knows.)
Yes, he must. (We are not going to publish them.) Do not.
(But you understand if we tell Myers who Imperator is, it will
be strong test of your identity.) Yes...Rector...I know...
the name was taken expressly for distinction, i.e., to distinguish
one from the other, and Dr. was Dr. —— whom I knew very
well at college. (Could you tell us, if it will be kept private, who
Imperator was?) I should hope so. Question, I did not catch
sir. (Can you tell us who Imperator was?) Certainly, a young
lady friend of mine. (Are you sure? I mean the famous com-
municator from the spirit world whom you spoke of as Im-
perator.) Oh no, but she in my spirit teachmgs is mentioned.
(I mean the Imperator also mentioned in your Spirit T'each-
ings.) Yes. Yes. Must I tell you who it was. (Let me ex-
plain. I wish you to use your own judgment. Mr. Myers
knows) he does (and we do not know. Nobody in the United
States knows. If you tell us and we send it to Myers privately,
it will be a very good test of your identity, being information to
him which nobody possesses on this side of the water.) Y——.
[Initial supplied by me. HH.] (Y——%) Certainly. (Y——%)
Yes. Now I know wherein I speak. I never during my illness
when being helped by him told or divulged his name to anyone
and I only left it written (Y——) in my MSS. (Very good,
Mr. Moses. This will be a splendid test) in or among my pri-
vate papers. (Good. That’s first rate.) No more sir. (You are
getting exhausted, aren’t you?) [Here the left hand becomes
convulsed and rubs Mrs. Piper’s right cheek in a manner char-
acteristic of Phinuit.% I wish to change my position sir if you
please. (Yes, do so.) Help me to remain here I wish very
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much to continue my remembrances. (Yes, we shall be very
glad too.) I remember Mrs. Speer very well” [While the last
sentence was being written Phinuit remarks to Newbold:]
[Viva voce? H.H.] ‘That gentleman’s a nice fellow, he’s a
clergyman.” ¢ Give my love to all on earth....yes...who can
deny my existence...oh my existence I say, who can deny that
I exist? (We do not.) Stainton Moses. (Can you write your
full name?) What Stainton...W...Moses always Stainton
Moses and always will be....... 4

“ (Now we wish your explanation of certain things. What was
the origin of this mistake about evil spirits taking possession of
men and leading them on to do wrong?) ¢Experience here has
taught me the difference. This was more my own theory. (You
mean that when you were in the body you misunderstood the
communications?) Yes often, especially when I was not feeling
well. (The thoughts of the communicating spirit got confused
with yours?) I mean of course to go back to the body i.e., to go
back to my earthly experience....Yes and not so much that
altogether as that I misunderstood. (You misunderstood your-
self, so to speak.) Certainly, materially. (You had your own
theory and misinterpreted the communicator’s meaning?) Yes
exactly, as I thought this very strongly I felt sure of having been
told this. (Were all those physical phenomena that you got due
to spirits?) No not all. They were due to material causes, etec.
as well. (Do you mean persons in the body produced them?)
Not at all, I mean to say that from the energy which they took
from my own body, medium power etc. they were moved. (Were
they moved by the action of spirits?) Action of spirits? Oh yes.
(T’ll state my impression. Certain spirits used the ¢electrical’
in connection with your body to produce the physical move-
ments.) Yes, this is what they did. Objects ete. raps... (If you
bave anything special to say to us we shall be glad to hear it, but
if not, we have something especial which we wish you to do for
us.) Well {writing begins to look dreamy] I must say that I
will bave many things special to say to you, but I am forced to
admit that this is all new to me now and it seems very strange
indeed...I am (we shall be grateful to you for help in proving
to the world the truth of spirit communications.) Yes, glad I
will be to be able. (Can’t read that word) enabled to communi-
cate, giving tests etc. in my own language. (Do you think you
could translate some Greek into English?) Do what? Greek
...why I used to be as familiar with Greek as English. (Better
wait for next time.) Well, yes. (Think up your Greek and the
next time we will give you some to translate. Everybody knows
that the medium does not know Greek and if you could translate
some for us it would be good proof) what could a medium have
to do with me and my Greek. [R. H. explains further that proofs
must be got that the medium’s manifestations are not fraudu-
lent.] Well I suppose they said the same of me. (Mr. Moses,
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aren’t the conditions getting strange? Don’t you think you had
better go now and come to us another time?) Yes I do [scrawls]
auf wiedersehen’ (auf wiedersehen.) ”

Professor Newbold comments:

“In this case we have the difficulties which attach to the spir-
itistic theory brought out in the highest relief. The general
tenor of the communications, the allusion to Mr. Speer, the re-
ception of the names of Myers and Hodgson, have an air of veri-
similitude. The communicator then gives us, with the most
solemn asseveration of their accuracy and with apparent con-
sciousness of the importance of his statements to a cause which
he had in life much at heart, three names which the real Mr,
Moses must have known and which of all possible things would
seem to be the hardest for the spirit to forget—the names of the
spirit friends who, as he claims, opened his eyes while still on
earth to the realities of the eternal life. And not one of those
names is true or has the least semblance of truth! Furthermore,
of all the points touched upon during the sitting this was the
only one that was unknown to both the sitters—another item in
favor of the telepathic theory. To my mind this failure on the
part of the alleged Moses is an obstacle to the acceptance of the
spiritistic theory which has not as yet been set aside and which
must be satisfactorily explained before that theory can be re-
garded as meeting the requirements of the case.”

My theory, if you care to know it, is, as before stated, that
we are not yet, if ever in this life, going to have absolute
verification. But if the case for survival were before any
court, the part of Moses’ evidence relating to Imperator & Co.
would simply be “stricken out ” as self-contradictory, and the
jury would be directed to decide on whatever evidence might
be left. The fact of his self-contradiction would probably be
held to weaken, but not to destroy, the rest of his evidence.
This of course would include what is not self-contradictory,
and that would have weight where it is backed up by such
witnesses as are cited for most of the occurrences I have re-
ported from Moses.

Moses was a man living more than most other respectable
people of recent times, in imaginations and, probably, illusions.
Such a man’s testimony may be good or may be bad. A court
would consider it when corroborated, but no court would pay
any attention to it when respectably contradicted, especially by
-himself. TIs it not possible that the psychical researchers pay
too much attention to that part of it in the Imperator case?
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Professor Newbold’s notes continue: Case XIII. (Pr.XIV,45f.)
Apparent Knowledge of Foreign Languages.

CR % At the sitting of June 22nd...I asked G. P.......

“(Will you translate Greek for me?) ¢ Certainly Greek. (You
remember it?) I ought to. [I then said the first scrap of Greek
that happened to come into my head:—Ildrep #uiv & v roig
oipavoic.] (Did you catch it?) No, not exactly, slowly. (Iérep),
Parter...I say...Pae...Pater...pater...good (#rdv) hemon
... [illegible] he...hemon...urano is...and translation...
Good...love [?] [illegible] Love [?] Love [?]...father is in
...that is right... (All right but go ahead.) I cannot quite
catch that B——. .. yes... Patience...well you have it B—.
[Throughout, both Mr. O-—- and I frequently repeated the
words and spelled them both in Greek and English.] Father is
in...tois ou ou nois our... B—— Patience my boy...Father
is in Heavens. (One word is left out, George.) Spell it slowly.
(Greek or English?) Greek of course. [We do so, #uin.]
Father is in the Heaven...I [do] not catch [it]...slowly now,
speak those letters separately my boy...ae...emon. (Rough
breathing, now, #uév.) Heaven...Yes...too bad old chap...
[I read bad as ‘hard’] Bad I say, I'll catch it. [Hand points
to O0——.] Now you say it, let me see if it will reach me any
better. [O—— says it. Hand gesticulates and twists so as to
get O——"s mouth close to outer side of hand just below the
root of little finger.] My ear. [I explain he means that his
spirit ear is located there.] Certainly, my ear... EMO... that
is what bothers me...Father is...was...now...no...Father
...our. [Quickly and with excitement.] OUR OU. [Then
slowly and reverently, in capital letters.] OUR FATHER
ISINHEAVEN. (Good.) [We all shake hands over it.]
(W. N.: We generally put it, ¢ Our Father who art in Heaven.”)
[Excitement.] Yes, I remember that too. Well, if you only
knew how difficult it is to catch the sound of your voices you
would wonder how I could speak at all to you because I have
difficulty in making you hear also, when a thing is very clear to
me. (Shall we try another?) One more (Shall it be in Latin?)
...yes. (What pronunciation did you use, Roman, English, or
Continental?) Roman. I asked for Greek, but never mind old
chap...wait...I am not quite satisfied...But you mentioned
the fact which I wished to explain. (Go ahead then and ex-
plain.) [Slowly.] WHO ART IN...OK. fire away...
[We have scarcely given the new sentence Tu ne cede malis sed
contra audentior ito before G. P. changes the subject by intro-
ducing two or three Latin and French words which he knows
will be significant to me but not to Mr. O He then asks
that Mr. O—— should go out, and begins writing upon a topic
which he does not wish him to know of.]

“ This case is more significant than the others because it does
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seem that the writer has some knowledge of Greek, whereas the
familiar phrase before used might be picked up by anybody. It
is also difficult to explain this translation by the telepathic the-
ory. The writer seems not to recognize the familiar words but
to translate afresh from the words he hears; if it were merely
reflected from my mind one would hardly expect it to take this
new form. [Italics mine. H.H.]

“In order to test G. P.’s knowledge of Greek still further I
wrote a sentence, making the first three words give the keynote
of the whole, using very simple and familiar words, and pur-
posely choosing the thought from the group that was upper-
most in the minds of the writers. The sentence was:—
Oik ot Bdvaroc ai ydp téw Buyrav Ywyel Jwiy Jbow dBavaroy, Gidiov, paxdpiov.
We first gave this to G. P. at the sitting of June 25th, 1895
[Present: R. H. and W. R. N.]. At our suggestion G. P. calls
the alleged Mr. Moses to help translate it. The result is con-
fusion worse confounded. Apparently the writers cannot hear
what we say, 8dvarog is at first written fanots. In this eonfusion
words and sentences occur which appear to emanate from Moses,
such as ‘I could in time recall all the Greek I ever taught and
why should I not,” ¢ It seems like awaking from a dream to recall
this to mind’ When the writer finally gets the word oix he
translates it ¢ light,” apparently from association with the Latin
word ‘lux.” On June 26th and 27th, further unsuccessful at-
tempts at translation were made. G. P. said that he remembered
his Greek well enough when he was away from the light’ but
the effort of communicating confused him and drove it out of
his head. On July 1st, at a sitting at which Dr. Hodgson only
was present, and in the midst of a communication from G. P.
upon another topie, the following interruption occurs:—

“‘Who said there was no death? [Hand moves forward as
though ‘speiring ’ into the ‘ vacant space.”] Moses (Ask Moses
what he means by that.) Well, you interrupt me. Well, I must
say old chap (I did not mean to interrupt you.) No not you

Moses. .. Ouk esti thanatos. Moses (that’s first rate. Is
this Mr, Moses translating?) Ouk esti thanatos. There’s no
death. Repeat it to me in Greek Hodgson for him. [R. . re-
peats, says it is correct and suggests getting the rest of the pas-
sage translated.] Come H. Come here a moment. Hurry up
H. [R. H. repeats the rest of the passage.]

“¢Again...Good oh good may God preserve you always H.,
and keep you alive on earth until you have accomplished a thor-
ough work. T’ll help you in every way possible (Shall I repeat
the Greek again?) Yes, something new ... Yes he’s listening ...
too fast H ... wait...ready he has it very nearly ...not the last
H...no before...yes...not quite...got it. [R. H. had been
repeatmg the first five words only several times.] I’ll go now
and translate it and return sir’

“This promise was never kept and we heard no more of the
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Greek. At later sittings other matters came to the front and
Moses did not reappear to complete the translation.”

But that sudden “Ouk esti thanatos,” a dozen lines back,
shows that there is a real mystery, and not a plain failure.

On the Piper manifestations up to this time, Podmore had
an article in the same volume with Prof. Newbold’s report—
Pr. XIV, which he, if alive, probably would not write to-day.
Like everything of his, however, it is well worth reading.
I have space for but a few extracts.

(Pr.XIV,50): “Is it not conceivable that the whole of the
information given in the trances may have been acquired by
normal means, either by unconscious elaboration of hints unde-
signedly furnished by the sitter, or by a deliberate system of
private inquiry?”

No, gentle spirit, it is not. The day when you wrote that
is past. I find that I was crass enough, when I first read it,
to write in the margin: “ Comical.” It was not so comical
when written several years before.

Podmore’s essay contains an interesting account of Alexis
Didier, a clairvoyant of seventy years ago. He intimates that
certain remarkable manifestations “only prove . . . that
Alexis’s Intelligence Department was up to date.” Opposite
this I find my comment: “ This explanation is more credu-
lous than faith in telopsis.” While I have tried to keep an
open mind, I have not succeeded in keeping free from similar
impressions regarding some views of many critics, not only
of telopsis, but of most of the phenomena described in the
Pr. 8. P. R. The genuineness of those phenomena has passed
the examination of many of the best contemporary minds,
and whatever may be their ultimate explanation, in regard
to them in general it is too late for other fine minds to waste
themselves over the hypothesis of fraud.

Podmore goes over the performance of several other noted
telopsists, and compares them with Mrs. Piper as follows (Pr.
X1V, 78):

“On the almost inconceivable hypothesis that Mrs. Piper has
obtained all this information fraudulently, we can but view with

amazement her artistic restraint in the use of proper names;
her masterly reticence on dates and descriptions of houses and
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such concrete matters, which form the stock-in-trade of the
common clairvoyante; the consummate skill which has enabled
her to portray hundreds of different characters without ever con-
fusing the réle, to utilize the stores of information so labori-
ously acquired without ever betraying the secret of their origin.”

“The consummate skill which has enabled her to portray
hundreds of different characters without ever confusing the
role.” Here, while showing himself profoundly impressed
with Mrs. Piper’s telopsis, he barely touches, but with a
master touch, upon what impresses me as of vastly more
importance than all the other features of her manifestations
put together. This feature has also been little more than
touched upon by the other commentators with the exception
of Hodgson, and later Sir Oliver Lodge. The neglect of
it by so many who have paid close attention to the matter
geems strange. But it is touched upon by all, just as the
cosmic soul and its inflow, which seems to me the funda-
mental correlator of all the phenomena, is touched upon by
all—and applied throughout by none.

The details of the so-called “ evidential ” matter bearing on
the survival of death seem to me so nearly balanced for and
against, that, so far, they are hardly worth taking into
account—that is, hardly worth taking into account unless we
include among them the dramatic quality. If that dramatic
quality is regarded as a mere manifestation of human capacity
(even when the question is begged by calling it subliminal),
and that capacity in a woman otherwise of but average quali-
ties, it is, to me at least, a marvel so overwhelming that, with
one exception, the suggestions to account for it are by contrast
less than pigmy. But that excepted suggestion is equally
overwhelming: it is the so-called spiritistic manifestation as
a function of the cosmie soul. Telopsis, telakousis, dreams,
possession—the whole business—give evidence of it. And
beside its solitary and majestic adequacy, the “evidential ”
obstacles to it often appear to sink into nothingness.



CHAPTER XXXVI

FARTHER EXTRACTS FROM PROFESSOR NEWBOLD'S
NOTES

Introductory

Proressor NEWBOLD has most kindly volunteered to place
at my disposal the original notes from which he prepared his
paper in Pr. 8. P. R. XIV that served me as the basis for
the preceding chapter. That paper embraced but a small part
of the notes of the sittings: some of them were deferred be-
cause of private considerations which time has partly removed,
and I have found not a little of the unpublished portion now
available for publication, and well deserving of attention ; but
of course the best parts are, as usual, unpublishable because
they are too intimate.

These notes are the only full ones (except those of my own
sitting) that I have ever seen. Of course, compared with the
parts selected for printing, the sittings as a whole are poor.
But the long stretches of confusion and seeming twaddle have
given me a stronger impression than I ever had from the
more coherent and significant portions printed, that much of
the matter does come, but under difficulties, from some source
outside of either medium or sitter or other incarnate intelli-
gences.

I shall have occasion to refer to these notes several times,
and will allude to them as the Newbold Notes.

The deferred matter of the Newbold Notes is interesting
mainly from the alleged appearance of George Eliot and
Walter Scott as controls, and from more detailed expressions
by the Imperator controls than have yet been printed in the
Pr. 8. P. R. To my taste the Eliot and Scott matter savors
very little of the reputed authors. And yet assuming for the
moment that our great authors survive in a fuller life, pre-
sumably they would have to communicate under very em-
barrassing conditions: for not only would they have to cramp

552
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themselves to produce work comprehensible here, but that Sys-
tem of Things which I am forced to harp upon, would have
to limit them lest their competition should upset the whole
system of our literary development, or rather would have in-
volved a different one from the beginning.

To me most of the Imperator matter is trash, but, as we have
seen a couple of chapters earlier, Hodgson did not so regard
it, and he was a man to be reckoned with; and if I were a
clergyman of the Methodist Church, or perhaps some other,
I might regard it very differently.

My first reading of the alleged George Eliot matter inclined
me to scout it entirely. It is certainly not in all particulars
what that great soul would have sent from a better world if
she had been permitted to communicate anything more pro-
found than we have been left to find out for ourselves, or even
if she had had the commonplace chance to revise her manu-
script. But on reflection I realized that, although the matter
came through Mrs. Piper, it could not have come from her,
wherever it came from; and that if George Eliot were com-
municating tidings naturally within our comprehension, and
merely descriptive of superficial experience as distinct from
reflection, and were communicating, through a poor tele-
phone, worde to be recorded by an indifferent scribe, this
material would not seem absolutely incongruous with its
alleged source, and to a reader knowing that the stuff claimed
to be hers, might possibly suggest the weakest possible dilution
or reflection of her. Yet she calls Imperator “ His Holiness ”
and says he is “ of God ” and holds communion with God daily
and passes along results, etc., etc.—all of it the sort of anthro-
pomorphism that might be expected from the average medium
or average sitter, but not from George Eliot.

And now, since writing the last paragraph and going
through the notes half a dozen times more, I have about con-
cluded, or perhaps worked myself up to the conclusion, that
if a judicious blue pencil were to take from them what could
be attributed to imperfect means of communication, and what
could be considered as having slopped over from the medium,
there would be a pretty substantial and not unbeautiful resid-
uum which might, without straining anything, be taken for
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a description by George Eliot, of the heaven she would find
if, as begins to seem possible, she and Moses and Hodgson and
the rest of us, have or are to have heavens to suit our respec-
tive tastes. But what would have to be taken out is often
ludicrously incongruous with George Eliot, and taking it out
would certainly be open to serious question.

Yet whatever may be the qualities, merits, or demerits of
this ¢ George Eliot ” matter, what character it has is its own,
and different materially from any I have seen recorded from
any other control. What is vastly more important, despite
the lapses in knowledge, taste, and style, which negative its
being the unmodified production of George Eliot, it neverthe-
less presents, me judice, the most reasonable, suggestive, and
attractive pictures of a life beyond bodily death that I know
of: it is not a reflection of previous mythologies, it is con-
gruous with the tastes of what we now consider rational beings,
and might well fill their desires; and it tallies with our ez-
periences—in dreams. Yet it is not a great feat of imagina-
tion, but in recent times no great genius has attacked the sub-
ject, and George Eliot would not have been expected to devote
her imagination to it, which raises a slight presumption that
what is told is really told by her from experience.

If T had to venture a guess as to how it came into existence,
it would be something like the guesses I make below with a
better basis of fact, regarding Scott, and would give some
backing to a conception which perhaps we will find worth
considering later (in my last three chapters)—that the future
life is a continuation of the dream life we know here. In this
case, I guess that somebody within range, possibly Mrs. Piper
herself, had been reading George Eliot, or about George Eliot,
and the muskmelon pollen had affected the cucumbers. Some
real George Eliot influence may have flowed in too, though
I don’t state this as a conviction that any did.

I cannot say even as much for the Walter Scott matter,
though I would say something of the same sort, which it is
not worth while to repeat. The Scott dreams are still less
characteristic of the alleged author, contain a much larger
proportion of absurdities, and are in every way even less sat-
isfying and suggestive. And yet the individuality of the style,
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such as it is—its difference from the alleged George Eliot
style, is obvious. The more I read of all this mediumistic
literature, the more I am impressed, despite the wishy-washi-
ness of most of it, with the fact that each control has ¢ thon’s »
own style, whether it is worth having or not, and has it to a
degree whose creation would tax the most ingenious dramatists
or novelists—perhaps even be beyond them. This is an im-
portant point, and I am not apt to do too much to impress it.
I have just happened to read a criticism of a translation made
many years ago—not the one soon to appear—of Gobineau’s
Renaissance. The book is made up of imaginary conversa-
tions, something like Landor’s, between Savonarola, Ceasar
Borgia, Julius II, Leo X, Michelangelo, and all sorts of con-
temporaries. The critic objected that the vocabularies of all
the speakers were the same. This is a striking illustration
of the difficulty of giving variety to characters. To assume
that Mrs. Piper and Mrs. Thompson and several other mediums
themselves create the distinet individualities they portray,
would be the height of absurdity. Now if they don’t, who
does? That a variety of sitters, each with distinct recollections,
should be able to do it, is far less absurd, but still presents
grave difficulties. But supposing it true, who under the sun
made Phinuit? Moses may have made Imperator and Rector,
but not the Rector we have seen described by James. James
and ““sundry critical and fastidious sitters ” made him, unless
God did. Mrs. Piper certainly did not. My vote, if I must vote,
is for James and the sitters. But I can’t vote that the sitters
made G. P. and Hodgson (whom we will meet as a control
later) or perhaps anybody that I know once had a personality.

Scott takes Newbold and Hodgson on imaginary journeys
through space ; describes the planets, calling the sun one, and
speaking of “ Heaven ” as another; gets into Saturn without
displaying any consciousness of its rings, talks nonsense about
them when reminded of them by the sitter; says there are
monkeys in the sun, and explains it away when challenged;
vindicates his claim to being a Scotchman by saying * bonnie ”
once, and * good-morrow ” habitually; and does give perhaps
a very faint suggestion of Sir Walter’s narrative style, but
none whatever of his sense of humor.

With our present knowledge, the rodomontade attributed to
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Scott provokes a ready hypothesis. Whether the future will
confirm it is another matter. Hodgson, the sitter, tells the
Scott control that he had lately been much absorbed in Scott’s
life and letters. This, apparently, had telepathically set the
medium going. Who composed the story of the journeys to
the planets is also another matter: it hardly reads like Scott,
and is not to be thought of as Mrs. Piper. But Hodgson was
entirely up to it, and in the absence of farther knowledge, my
guess would be that he involuntarily reeled it off telepathically
through Mrs. Piper. This does not preclude my also guessing
(I don’t say believing) that a Scott influence of some kind—
more than a reflection and Hodgson’s memories—may have
flowed in too. The style of the production is as far as possible
from Hodgson, and much more suggestive, or rather I should
say, less unsuggestive, of Scott.

Stainton Moses turns up several times, and apparently a
result of his appearing in the Newbold sittings was the later
appearance, through Mrs. Piper, of controls claiming to be
the old Moses-Imperator gang. Imperator discoursed ad nau-
seam on Old Testament matters, denying many statements and
taking others extra-seriously, harped constantly on Melchi-
zedek, and hinted that Melchizedek and Mrs. Piper are “two
of a kind.” All this harping can hardly be attributed to
Hodgson, Newbold, or Mrs. Piper. It seems as if the post-
carnate Moses must have taken a hand: it is a very hard nut
to crack. Imperator also uses “evolute ”” as a verb, and inflects
it. And here is a very suggestive point. There are some half
a dozen controls in the series of sittings from which I am now
quoting—alleged to be persons living at various periods, and of
various varieties and degrees of culture, and virtually all of
them, even George Eliot, employ that noun “evolute,” as a
verb in place of evolve, although the two words have no legiti-
mate meaning in common. That so many of the real persons
the controls professedly represented should have been guilty of
such a solecism, is out of the question. Plainly Mrs. Piper
had an attack of it, just as she apparently had an attack of
Walter Scott through Hodgson, and just as we all occasionally
get an attack of some word or other; and she, as we all do,
mixed it in with her dreams.
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The later sittings of this series abound in predictions re-
garding the war with Spain then impending. The details
had little if any relation to the events that actually occurred.
One of the consequences was to be “ the greatest purification-
and spiritnal growth that the world has [will have? H.H.]
known since the birth of Christ.”

These controls generally indicated the primitive theory of
Possession. Phinuit, despite his having once said to some
control: “ You come in by the hands and I’ll go out by the
feet,” claims to go out and in by a spiritual umbilical cord,
such as that by which various persons dreaming themselves to
have left the body, still see themselves connected.

Alleged Communications from Sir Walter Scott

I have already expressed my guess as to the source of these.

The introduction of this Scott control was peculiar and
suggestive. As already stated, Hodgson was absorbed in
Scott’s Life and Letters. On June 25, 1895, appeared (os-
tensibly) Hodgson’s cousin Fred H—— (see Chapter XXIX)
to the following effect. I introduce him for various reasons,
but here especially for his assertion, at the end of the extract,
regarding his residence. That seems to provide Scott with a
topic.

June 25, 1895,

“¢ Say, how you was, how was you...do you see me... H——
.. (R. H.: Hello Fred, what’s the news?) [Fred H—-
cousin of R. IL. killed in Australia about 1872 by fall in gymna-
sium fracturing spine.] Your mother, Aunt Margaret, is not at
all well Dick (What'’s the matter?) Yes, write her a line, will
you,...she had an abscess or something like it but is getting
on a little better now.... (H.: Have you been there?) Yes, I
have just returned from Australia (Did you have a good time?)
Good time? Yes, I saw Annie [R. H.s sister.] [N. makes some
remark] who was that said yes [Hand H.H.] [pounds]. (H.: My
friend here said something.) Not much (H.: Oh some spirit
spoke to you?) Yes, said “ say yes this way ” [pounds again very
heavily] How are you Dick any way how are you? (H.: First
rate, taking a little exercise, bicycling lately.) What is that
(Something like what you and I called ‘boneshaking’ riding
on two wheels.) Oh, fly the garter, [a game at which F. H. was
unusually expert] well I’ll beat you at it. (H.: Have you got
track of my affairs?) Got, well I should smile you have not
half lived out your happy days (I wish I were over there with
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you so that I might give proof of my identity) What! over
here.... Well it is all right where you are.... Well Dick you
dear old Bunt... Bump...Got it...t...yes...yes Bunto [¢
Yes our word of ... Well you do not really signify one...yet
recall it...hear... you are not so insignificant as a Bunit, Not
at all. I do not say BUNT I do not...Bunyet...Oh there
is the cow...Pull her tail Dick... [when boys F. H. once in-
duced R. H. to do it and he was of course kicked over.] [Isn’t
this an out-and-out dream? H.H.]... Well you old Bunyet...
yot...why can’t you think...B (H.: You mean Bunyip the
bugaboo of the Australian natives?) [Violent pounding and
serabbling] Did I not say yet...You look like one just now as
I see you...yes...why did? (H.: How are they all in Aus-
tralia?) First rate (Ella, Harry and all) everyone...yes...
yes...(H.: My mother will not pass out now?) No—no—Star
[They had spoken of this before] (Oh you mean you live in a
star?) Yes, Mars.......”

June 25, 1895,
After other communications handwriting changes, becomes
small and proceeds slowly:

“¢Scott, Scott, Scott, I am extremely happy to be with you
gir....I just strayed in here (This is Sir Walter Scott?)
Yes sir, I strayed [Then H ’s allusion to Mars apparently
takes effect. H.H.]...for a moment lend me your attention
when you wish to hear anything concerning Mars—do not for-
get to call for me. I am...I have met Mr. Pelham and I am
enchanted with him, intellectually (Yes, he’s a splendid fellow)
very . .. wonderfully clever sir [of N] (This is a friend of mine
Sir Walter,—Dr. Newbold) Pleased to meet you sir...Brain
[we read this Bone and ask if he is writing Latin] No sir,
Scotch BRAIN...a fine...(You mean he has a fine brain?)
Yes, sir meaning Mr. Pelham. [Funny to descant on the brain
of a post-material personage! Yet amid all the phantasmagoria
appear many indications of second and sublimated editions of
bodies, including brains, I suppose as vehicles for thought, just
as they are here. H.H.] ... well, naturally charming (Will you
not come to-morrow and talk to Dr. N.?) Yes sir. I would be
pleased indeed. (N.: I would be much indebted to you Sir
Walter if you would.) Oh I should be most happy to do any-
thing possible for you or the assistance [Does he mean this in
the French sense? If so, it was not Mrs. Piper. HH.] ... any
information regarding our existence. I am somewhat interested
in your friend here whom I have heard mention my name upon
several occasions. (H.: I have been much interested in your
life and letters.) life and letters, indeed. (Yes, they have been
recently published and I was especially impressed by that you
wrote to a lady proposing marriage.) This might be why I am
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so much attracted to you. (I felt a strong feeling for you.)
I have clearly been in a way connected with you (In what
special way?) Feeling, circumstances, ete. (In all this work?)
I bave also assisted you in writing your ideas. (You mean you
impress your thoughts upon me?) Yes sir (I hope you will
continue to do it) pardon...yes sir I will be pleased I assure
you (Is not the light growing dim?) Yes sir—good morrow
(Please tell Dr. N. to-morrow about Mars and the condition of
your life over yonder) good morrow—Walter Scott. [With a
dash a new sprawling script.]’”

June 26, 1895. Present: W. R. N.

“To G. P.: (Send in Sir Walter.) ¢Yes certainly, with the
greatest pleasure my boy. ... Well this is a cool reception (What
do you mean?) Well I am only talking to Scott—We will leave
the question of Pantheism [Hand beckons to invisible Sir Wal-
ter. Some initial convulsion,—then the Sir Walter Script be-
gins, Hand writes steadily, uniformly, without show of emotion,
in a very small faint script [Counter to the general Piper prac-
tice. H.H.], and when it raps assent does it in a gentle manner
very unlike the vigorous blows given by other writers.]’”

“¢We turn our air ship towards the planet Mars and as we
draw nearer and nearer, we begin to see objects and people.
We then look again down upon the earth and then into Mars
and see what comparison [N. doesn’t decipher] comparisons...
(comparisons?) No not s. leave it out...we can make as to
its inhabitants with those in Mars a strange looking lot of
people, very dark in color. They seem to be very intelligent yet
not altogether like our friends on earth. They are more like
the animal in shape (Do they stand upright?) Oh yes, are
you not with me, sir (I’m simply writing my question so as
to know the meaning of your answer) Oh pardon...well of
course you have my idea, that we are sailing, you as a man on
earth, I as a spirit in heaven, sailing through the spirit world
together, only I am illustrating it to you as being in the sky,
do you understand...yes sir...(Can you describe the inhab-
itants more closely?) Ah yes we see these people as it were
half man half animal yet wonderfully advanced with their in-
ventions (What are the canals in Mars?) I have described
the roads, walks, the icebergs (You haven’t described them to
us) Oh not...no...you don’t understand sir (I beg pardon
for the interruption), not at all I say I have not...oh well I
understand from my friend, Mr. Pelham that you have dis-
covered canals. Yet they were termed...what did you term
them (canals) Yes, but what meaning did you convey to the
word (None at all, I simply use the word to indicate the appear-
ance of the parallel lines seen on the surface of the planet)
Oh spots on the sun—oh reflection only...reflection from the
sun.”
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June 27, 1895.

“[G. P. writes, Ph, still talking.] ‘How are you B—— tell
Ph. to keep quiet, you see I do not wish to be interrupted. I
have many things of importance on my mind and wish to clear
them. You forgot to call me back old chap. (I know it George,
but the light went out before I thought of it.) I saw my friend
Scott speaking to you. Did he make himself understood? (Yes
indeed. What he said was very interesting and he promised to
continue it to-day.) Oh and he will. He has a charming char-
acter and has had a wonderful experience of very long duration.
...0UK...OUK...Now...Down...No?...yes...
NOR...OUK [I keep repeating the phrase ouk esti thinatos
and spelling each word from time to time.]’”

G. P. boggles over the phrase until W. R. N. suggests:

“¢(Go out and think it over or ask someone while Sir Walter
talks) I do not need to do this. I will go out and recall, I never
need ask....I say, B—— here comes Scott, Adieu. [Writing
changes to characteristic Scott hand as used in former sittings.]
[Was Mrs. Piper not only a great dramatist, but also an expert in
changing handwriting? H.H.] Good morrow my friend I am
now prepared to finish my discourse or description of spiritual
beings, existences, etc. Do you remember where I left off? It
was, that is to say we were, in the planet Mars., The lines by the
way sir,—come with me again, are you ready— Well the lines
or spots, so to speak, are not satellites. They are reflections
from the sun. (Reflections of what?) [hand ignores the question
and pursues the calm and even tenor of its way.] Well now
we wish to see something of the habitations of the gentlemen
who inhabit this planet. Their houses are similar to those on
earth yet more modern and much less complicated in structure.
Do you wish to speak to me sir as we pass? (Yes. Of what are
they made and how?) They are made from various kinds of
material such as brick, stone, etc. (These are the houses on
the planet Mars of which you are speaking?) I am, yet we do
not compare them exactly with those on earth. They are made
according to natural causes and such atmospheric conditions as
it is necessary from such materials. (Tell me more about the
atmospheric conditions.) I think that I have done so upon
other occasions sir, and were you the gentleman to whom I gave
them? (Not to me, Sir Walter but to a friend of mine. I have
read what you said, and I think you did not say anything of
the atmosphere.) Well, pardon me sir, I will then. The planet,
as we see it materially is rather cold. For instance there are
icebergs and many of them on this planet i.e. on some parts of
it; in others it is warmer and enough so to produce vegetation.
There are some very beautiful trees, flowers, ete. (Is the climate
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fair or cloudy?) Very fair, it is in the torrid zone. (You mean
it is fair in the torrid zone of Mars?) Yes, this only (Are
there inhabitants in other planets?) Such as Jupiter? Well let
me ask what you are dreaming about sir [I misunderstand and
think writer is reproving me for asking such a question of
Jupiter since I knew well that he was not in a condition to
support life. So I say] (I said nothing of Jupiter, Sir Walter;
I merely asked whether there is life in any other planets.)
There was a little misunderstanding I think, as we are now
riding through the air. (I beg your pardon; go on.) we now
leave the planet Mars and we wish to visit others. First we
think of Jupiter. Well as we ride we begin to discern——[for
pencil] —Thanks——something which to us looks like a dark
jagged ball or rock. Well as we draw nearer we seem to discover
smoke as it seems, then still more of the darkness. Now we are
nearing the planet. As we draw nearer we begin to see sparks
which reminds us of fire. Now we pass through a tremendously
stifling atmosphere (Not stifling to you?) Oh no sir, I am
the spirit or life, you are the material man whom I am taking
with me as my guest. You seem choked, and yet you ask me
to go on. Well, now we wish to pass through this fog of seem-
ingly smoke, fire electricity, as Mr. Pelham terms it. I bor-
rowed the phrase sir, [Electricity cut no figure in Scott’s earthly
life. Evidential touch! H.H.] and now we begin to reach the
planet Jupiter. We pass around the surface peeping into it.
onto it...and we see nothing of any importance except the
continual sparks, so called, which conglomerate together and as
yet are in a very unsett]ed state (Take me further.) This all
seems to us strange and interesting. We see all in one mass a
conglomeration of atmospheres which when settled in one body
looks like a planet. (Then Jupiter is not solid?) Not at all
solid. (Take me elsewhere, especially where there is life.) What
is the general idea of Jupiter on your planet sir? (I know little
astronomy Sir Walter, but I think Jupiter is believed to be a
red hot solid surrounded by dense clouds.) But it is not at all
solid as we can pass through it.” ”

This is probably distinctly incorrect, but nothing else seems
to be, so far as it goes. It is a little strange that he did not
speak more definitely of the superficial aspects displayed in all
the pictures.

There are perhaps a dozen pages of this sort of thing, going
through the rest of the planets. We have room for only a
scrap or two more. There is no more than a fortuitous cor-
respondence with the little astronomy I know, and a propor-
tionate share of contradictions, and it ends up with (Professor
Newbold resuming) :
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_ “(Take me where there is life.) ¢ Venus—(Good) so termed
is_inhabited [Medium’s head falls from the cushion. I say]
(Wait a moment Sir Walter while I fix the head of the medium
in place.) Yes sir [Hand stops writing until the head is again
firmly set in place. Phinuit thanks me in stifled tones. I ask
whether the light is going out. Hand replies] The light so
called? No sir.... Venus you will remember on earth looks like
a very beautiful and bright star.... We pass through a long...
of light, so called sky and we pass on very rapidly until we
begin—are you tired sir? (No indeed. Go on.) ——to feel
very much pleased with the atmospherie conditions. ... We smell
the most delightful odors possible for the human mind to under-
stand or sense. Now all is life, light, the air is as balmy and
soft as a spring morning on earth...insects of all kinds and
descriptions, birds of every known [hand hesitates for some time
and then writes] deseription (You had species in mind, had
you not?) species, yes sir, this was exactly the expression which
I wish to express or use—their plumage is to you something
magnificent and indeseribable. We see them flitting about from
one place to another, apparently in space, yet as we move on we
begin to realize that we are approaching something more tangi-
ble. Now we see the heavens aglow with light, the perfume
heavenly. The atmosphere warm, balmy, beautiful, too much
8o to put in words and express. Now we feel a slight breeze
and we are wafted through the outer rim as it were into a
perfect little heaven by itself. Nothing ever realized on earth
could compare with this. Now we see no one, i.e. no living
being so to speak, only these beautiful creatures the trees like
wax, the flowers like the true soul as it were, they are so really
beautiful, the fields are one mass of green...yet we see not
a man anywhere. We wonder where they all are, we travel for
miles and miles, yet we see nothing but insects and birds i.e.
living. We wish to ascertain why this is thus...yes sir...
why ... why...because of the marvelous atmosphere. They are
sensitive to this and cannot survive it. (Did they ever exist?)
Oh no, sir (You mean then that Venus is passing through a
stage analogous to the carboniferous era on the earth?) I do,
only it is more perfect and real at this stage...when the time
comes for the flowers to decay they simply droop, wither and
fall, then immediately others spring up and fill their places.
Now we stop for a moment.... Now we must go...pass...on
and leave this beautiful godlike heaven [Would Sir Walter com-
pare a place to a sentient being? H.H.] or planet as it were [my
hand is resting on the paper. The writing collides with it, stops,
feels it, finger by finger, writes:] What is that please, sir? (My
hand.) Best not disturb me [I misunderstanding explain that
I lift the writing hand while I turn the pages of the block book]
Oh thanks not that sir; it was here [tapping the spot where my
hand had rested] it's all right sir, pardon me if you please.
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“‘..... We move out of Venus, slowly, unwillingly, yet on
we pass until we have reached the outer sphere again. Now
we move on towards the sun, but at first we feel extremely un-
comfortable. .. yet we begin to become accustomed to the atmos-
phere and now on we go...in our air vessel towards the sun...
and as we move on we still continue to feel uncomfortable until
we reach this planet, when the atmosphere begins to clear a
little. Now we, excuse the mixture of nouns and pronouns, sir,
we then reach the sun, and we feel cold (cold?) Yes sir we have
passed beyond the limit of the former planéts and we feel the
various changes as we move. Now the extreme change takes
place and we feel intensely hot...we do not wish to move on,
80 now we find this one center of heat (Can you a spirit feel
the heat?) [Finger points deliberately at me, then hand writes,]
You, yet I [I express comprehension] pardon, yes sir, yet I wish
you to imagine yourself a spirit well now.... (Sir Walter is the
sun all fire, or has it a solid core?) The word is not familiar to
me, sir. [I explain.] Ob, there is a solid body, sir, which I
am now going to take you to see....Well now we move on to-
wards this fire, now reach its borders and notwithstanding the
extreme heat we pass through it and we find ourselves upon a
solid bed of hot clay or sand. This is caused by gravity under-
stand where we are we have now reached the limit, we find it
very warm and deserted like a deserted island. We fail to find
its inhabitants if there are any i.e. if it has any. Now we sece
what we term monkeys, dreadful looking creatures, black ex-
tremely black, very wild. We find they live in caves which are
made in the sand or mud, clay ete.”

Touching this remarkable piece of Natural History, Pro-
fessor Newbold says (Pr. XIV, 48):

“In 1895, as the alleged Walter Scott was concluding a sitting
he told me that there were monkeys in the sun., That night
while writing up the sitting at Dr. Hodgson’s rooms, ten miles
from Mrs. Piper, Dr. Hodgson and I fell to laughing over this
preposterous statement; so loudly indeed did we laugh that I
finally cautioned Dr. H. that we would be wakening the whole
block. The next morning the writer, without my saying any-
thing about it, explained that he did not mean to say there were
monkeys in the sun; the light of the medium was failing him
and gave rise to this error. He meant to say that we would
follow the light of the sun as far as the tropic of Capricorn
and there we would see the monkeys flying in and out of sand
caves. I do not see that this explanation betters the matter
very much. A little later on, as the writer was professing to
show me the moon, the hand suddenly stopped :—

“¢Excuse me sir, a moment. Who was the gentleman with
whom I saw you seemingly laughing over my journeys with
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you! Actually laughing...yes sir...and roaring enough to
split the canopy of space. [I confess I was much taken aback
by having my sins thus unexpectedly brought to light; I ex-
plained who it was and how absurd the statement about the sun
had seemed to us. I begged the writer’s pardon.] Not at all,
sir, thank you sir...exceedingly kind sir. No intelligent spirit
would convey for a moment this impression. Well now we
have had a nice long trip, and we wish now to visit...no [hand
strikes out ¢ visit’] leave the actual planets and visit our own
planet, i.e. Heaven. Well, sir, come with me and I will take you
through it with me.’”

The sun and heaven “planets”! Evidently Mrs. Piper
had as bad an attack of the word, as she had of “evolute.”

My eliminations indicated in the foregoing extracts from
Sir Walter are of pure surplusage; yet you will agree that
enough in all conscience is left.

June 27, 1895. Sitter: W. R. Newbold.

“Phinuit speaks: ¢ There are a lot of great,—what do you
call them,~famous, eminent men here but they are too far
advanced in their sphere to come back through any light. Don’t
you believe these mediums when they say great men come to
them. Don’t you absorb any such mysteries. (But Dr. some
great men have professed to speak through this light?) [Phi-
nuit seems taken aback] Who have, Billie? (Well that gentle-
man who was here last time [Walter Scott. H.H.] He’s a great
man.) Oh that friend of George’s. He’s here now with George,
waiting for you to get through talking to me. He’s a writer
you know. (What does he look like?) He has a high fore-
head, and hair drooped down over his ears, aquiline nose [I
have examined three portraits of Scott with reference to this.
In two the nose is unmistakably straight; in one it is possibly
aquiline. H.H.], broad forehead, a little bit of hair on the sides
of his face here [feels my cheek, stops, pulls at my beard]—
you look as though you were covered with hair Billie—rest of
his face is shaven. (What is his name?) I don’t know. We
call people here mostly by their Christian names, we don’t use
the other names much. (What is his Christian name?) Walter.
... Who was the other great man Billie that came through this
light? (Darwin.) Darwin, who’s he? (A great man Dr.—
too long a story to tell.) ...I’ve been hanging around this light
ever since it was a little one:...I’ve been with this body ever
since it came into the material; I’ve been following, following,
following it all these years. (Had you been long in the spirit
when you first saw it Dr.) No I'd just awaked in the spirit,—
just been called [N.B. This is Mrs. P.’s 36th birthday.] Do
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you know Billie, I’ve taken this body when very ill and treated
it. (I wish you'd do as much for me Dr.) I can’t belong to
everybody Billie. ... There are lots of people George talks about,
he reaches them in thought but not in contact A French gentle-
man asked me about George Washington, and whether I'd ever
seen him. Do you know who he is, Billie? (Oh yes.) He said
he was a governor or somebody. Is that true? (Yes he was a
great man with us.) Well I never saw him.——Some [i.e. pro-
fessional mediums] are not altogether frauds, they have good
lights, but have too much imagination. Do you know what I
mean Billie? (Oh yes.) Well, here comes George, but before
I go I must give a message to these little girls’ mother [Mrs.
Thaw. H.H.] There are two little girls here with their grand-
mother—Ruth and Margaret and they wish to be remembered.
The little one says “ Pretty pussy.”’”

The foregoing contains nothing “ evidential,” but I hope to
learn how capable seekers of the evidential account for it. If
it is an attempt of the alleged “ cunning ” “ subliminal self
of Mrs. Piper or somebody else, or of somebody’s supraliminal
gelf, to make an amusingly ingenuous Phinuit, it is over-
drawn: for an educated French physician living early in the
nineteenth century could not have had all this professed
ignorance of Washington. The same objections hold against
its being a genuine Phinuit, unless you apply the usual handy
gloze of “dimmed and confused recollections.” It seems
simply an unaccountable dream jumble. ¢ There are others.”

July 8, 1895. Present: R. H.

“ [Sir Walter Scott writes.] ‘I am with you, sir. Have you
followed me all the way through our heavenly world? Do you
grasp all I desire? (I try to realize as far as it is possible for
mortal.) 1 am extremely anxious that you should disentangle
every muddle should there be any, by questioning me. (Can
you tell me about the planets beyond Saturn?) Oh yes, sir, all
of them. You know they were distinguished one from another
by names... [illegible]...in Latin, such [?] as Latin...yes,
which ... I had no doubt you would understand me—printed or
otherwise known as (Latin names given to the planets?) Yes,
sir.

“¢The spirit is happy and eminent[?] on high
into all planets can instantly fly.
You have not got the meter right, sir (Oh, it’s in meter.) Yes,
sir. (You are quoting some poetry?) Yes, sir. (Try again.)
Realms
world ?
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with [?] its several [?] wings to various planets can instantly
fly...yes, I...[illegible] it. The trouble is you do not catch
all of my words, sir.

The spirit is happy and in...

ne, dwells in heaven on high
No, not right, sir.
Our spirit is happy in heaven on high
With wings ethereal...
...sir, you have it our.
(Our spirits are happy in heaven on high
With wings ” is that it?)

to the various planets we fly.

Similar. .. yes, sounds so, sir. (Have you just composed these
lines?) I brought them here in thought, sir. (You wrote a
great many lines of poetry when you were in the body.) Oh
yes, sir, yes, some very fair, and others very bad, I am sure.’”

Sir Walter goes on to write about the planets beyond Saturn,
to the effect that Uranus has no inhabitants but fish, though
Neptune, much less likely to be inhabited, holds a preternatu-
rally intelligent and moral community of man-like dwarfs,
who believe in the Trinity. They also “evolute.” When they
die, they go to a part of Sir Walter’s “ planet ” heaven, “ not
far from us.” He doesn’t know whether the inhabitants of
all the planets go there or not. If I remember rightly, he
leaves only a third planet with human-like inhabitants to
question about; but all inferior conscious beings he very lib-
erally (and not unreasonably, me judice) declares immortal.
He speaks of “ Heaven ” several times as a planet (instead of,
like Boston, a condition) and constantly uses the primitive
notion of going “up ” to it.

Then he goes into descriptions of what is seen and heard
there, vastly inferior to those we shall see later attributed to
George Eliot, and of relations to friends there and on earth.
But despite lots of drivel, it seems to possess a certain worth-
whileness in sharing the experience that to wish for anything
is to realize it, which is the most “heavenly ” notion I have
yet encountered, and which is (I’m a little surprised ‘to find
myself saying) so well illustrated in the George Eliot com-
munications. All the wishes given by ¢ Sir Walter ” are, it
should be superfluous to say, innocent ones; and in response
to an inquiry whether he reads or studies, he implies that do-
ing so would be superfluous, as he experiences anything in
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which he feels an interest. That strikes me as rather heavenly
too.

With these Scott sittings, as with the Eliot ones, I have had
more noticeably than with others, one experience which per-
haps I ought to own up to. At the first reading, as already
stated, neither set seemed worth attention; but at each of the
half dozen subsequent readings, not only has the Eliot set
presented more and more points that seemed worth noticing,
but even the Scott set has not seemed so utterly negligible as
at first. The old-fashioned courtesy and diffuseness certainly
suggest some Scott influence. This may all be because I want
to find something in the utterances, and because therefore, do
my best, I cannot divest myself of bias, and so must warn you
against me. Yet my increased idea that there may be some-
thing in them may be due to better reasons.

Here is a suggestive episode, or “ put-up job,” as you please
to look at it. Or you needn’t look at it at all as explaining
anything. I dorn’t.

On July 8, 1895, Sir Walter Scott is alleged to be talking
to Hodgson some impossible lingo about Neptune and its in-
habitants, when

Present: R. H.

¢ [Hand points beyond. ¢ Who is this gentleman, sir (H.: Is
it Mr. Phillips [pseudonymil ?) Nosir...Dr. A T.M . ex-
cuse [I introduce Sir Walter Scott and Dr. A. T. M—— to
each other!] pleased to meet you sir. He wishes me to say
that there’s nothing serious in regard to the child’s illness.
Give this to F [pause] (to Fred?) F. H. M. sounds sir very
like F H M (I understand.) thanks sir. I am very grateful
...g’o’(,)d day,—never mind, I am pleased to do anything for
you.

Scott when asked if they live in houses says, “ Not at all.”
George Eliot says they do, and describes many. Other con-
trols have done the same.

Sir Walter’s fantastic stories of the planets make the sitter
want to know what Phillips (pseudonym) the astronomer
would say. He asks G. P. and Phinuit if they can get him,
and on July 3, 1895, he turns up—rather absurdly it appears
to me.

Present: R. H.
“[As Mrs. Piper began to lose consciousness, her head



568 Farther Extracts from Newbold’s Notes [Bk. II, Pt. IV

peered forward as it were, her eyes seemed fixed, and she mur-
mured ¢Phillips—Phillips—I see Phillips—Ilisten, listen——
In the front of your eye forms a lens which collects the rays of
light which project from an object and it registers itself upon
the retina. That’s how you see me.’ There may have been
some additional words. Mrs. Piper then went into trance under
what was obviously a ‘new control’ i.e. other than Phinuit.
The attempts to speak failed; then the hands and arms made
movements as if holding a telescope, looking through it, direct-
ing it upwards, turning it in a sweep, drawing it out, adjusting
it, turning round the eye piece, working a side screw, etec. I
suggest writing. Hand feels my head and fingers.] [Phillips
writes,] [Scrawls.] Phillips [scrawls.] [Phinuit takes con-
trol. Hand becomes more perturbed. Ph. says,] ¢ there’s a gen-
tleman there. I saw him talking to the light of the medium.’

[I give Phinuit a hat lining of deceased person to find details
about while I am talking to Phillips.] ¢ What’s the...help.
[T bold the hand by the wrist gently but firmly and keep it
near the table.] Oh thank you sir, Oh thanks. I used to
study and teach astronomy. (Are you Mr. Phillips?) Yes, sir,
Phillips. (I heard you lecture once in England.) [Much ex-
citement in hand. Wild scrawls.] England—well—I know
England very well....England. Oh England how sweet to
hear the sound of England and be able to discriminate the
difference between the immortal and the mortal. I wished to
have had someone to see me (here?)... (Do you wish to free
your mind of anything, er will you answer some questions?)
Well, sir, I first shall have to become accustomed to the working
of this magnet before I can express my thoughts scientifically
(You think perhaps you’d better not try to answer technical
questions at present.) [Perturbation] I feel like a person in
mortal body having an attack of nightmare, sir. I am all in a
whirl (Perhaps you’d better not stay too long<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>